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 Transparent and consistent financial accounting information is vital for capital markets 
to function effectively. Unfortunately, the existing insurance accounting practices are 
not always conducive to producing meaningful financial reports that accurately reflect 
the underlying economics of insurance. Why is this? In part at least, it reflects the diffi-
cult conceptual and practical issues associated with how best to value insurers’ assets 
and especially their liabilities, as well as how to recognise associated income and  
expenses. Insurance contracts often cover long-term, complex, and therefore difficult  
to calibrate risks. They also are not typically traded in secondary markets and may entail  
a significant savings component, posing further measurement challenges. To make 
things worse, a patchwork of different and often opaque accounting systems across  
the sector and between jurisdictions makes it difficult to understand and compare  
insurance accounts.

 For over a decade, international accounting standard setters have been wrestling with 
how best to improve insurance accounting. Specifically, the International Accounting 
Standards Board (IASB), in collaboration with the US-based Financial Accounting 
Standards Board (FASB) has been developing a new valuation framework for insurance 
contracts. Together, they have also sought to update existing accounting standards  
for other financial instruments, which make up the majority of insurers’ investments.

 The latest accounting proposals represent a significant departure from existing stand-
ards and could have major strategic implications for insurers. While there is broad  
acceptance in the insurance industry about the overall thrust of the proposed reforms, 
considerable debate continues about key details of the proposals. The contentious  
issues can be categorised into three. First, there is disagreement about the various 
components of liability valuation and how these should change over time. Second,  
insurers are keen to avoid differences in the way assets and liabilities are measured,  
and are lobbying hard for symmetric accounting treatment on both sides of the balance 
sheet. Third, the new measurement model will put more emphasis on changes in  
the value of assets and liabilities and the evolution of insurers’ risk exposure rather than 
solely what income is actually realised over a particular period.

 Shifting towards a more economic valuation of assets and liabilities should, in principle, 
help to illuminate the full costs of producing insurance, including the cost of capital  
required to support the business. At the same time, it may make insurers’ reported  
financial statements more volatile, depending on how far accounting and economic 
mismatches are addressed in the new accounting regime. This increased reporting  
volatility, especially if associated with short-term market price movements not relevant 
to the business model, might unduly drive up insurers’ cost of capital and put them at  
a disadvantage compared with other industries.

 Empirically, the direct link between year-to-year variability in insurers’ accounting results 
and their equity returns appears to be weak, suggesting such cost of capital fears  
may be exaggerated. Further, the changes in financial reporting could bring potential  
benefits for insurers, particularly over the longer term once the new accounting stand-
ards become well established. They should encourage insurers to be explicit and more 
open about the source of uncertainty surrounding their estimated assets and liabilities 
and the rewards for bearing risk. This could help insurance executives improve their  
decision making about the extent and the price of insurance cover provided. Similarly,  
if changes to accounting standards lead to greater clarity about insurers’ underlying 
strength or performance, they may alleviate investor doubts about financial reporting  
in the sector which some suggest may lie behind insurers’ low equity market valuations 
in recent years.

  However, it is not clear that the proposed accounting reforms in themselves will provide 
the level of transparency about insurers’ businesses that some users of financial accounts 
ultimately seek. This is especially so if the new standards lead to yet more detailed  
disclosures without simplifying guidance about how to interpret the financial results.  
Instead, insurers need to ensure that they employ reporting metrics that clearly and 
concisely communicate their underlying economic value to all stakeholders. To foster 
improved transparency, additional disclosures that provide an indication of future  
distributable earnings on a recurring basis may be needed.

Existing insurance accounting often does 
not accurately reflect the underlying  
economics of insurance, in part because 
liabilities are difficult to value.

International accounting standard setters 
have been wrestling with insurance  
accounting reform for over a decade.

Their proposals are significantly different 
from existing arrangements and could 
have major implications for insurers.

Shifting towards more economic  
valuations should be beneficial, but may 
introduce additional volatility into insurers’ 
financial statements.

Empirically, the direct link between year-
to-year variability in insurers’ accounting 
results and their equity returns appears to 
be weak, suggesting fears about increased 
costs of capital may be exaggerated.

In the end, regardless of the accounting 
standards in force, insurers need to make 
sure their reporting metrics clearly and 
concisely communicate their underlying 
economic value to all stakeholders.

Executive summary
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  “There is no commonly accepted approach to insurance accounting internationally, 
 and there is a strong sense among investors that insurance accounting is deficient.”
	 Sir	David	Tweedie,	former	Chairman	of	the	International	Accounting	Standards	Board	(IASB)

 Accounting is the process of keeping track of a business’s finances. Financial state-
ments aim to present a true and fair picture of a company’s operations and net assets  
to outside stakeholders, such as current and potential shareholders, lenders, suppliers 
and customers. Transparency, consistency, and comparability of accounting information 
across countries and industries allows providers of capital and credit to make informed 
decisions on the allocation of funds. Yet, as Sir David Tweedie’s words from his  
2011 speech to the US Chamber of Commerce indicate, there are currently multiple  
approaches to insurance accounting, and a move to a more cohesive set of principles 
would be a clear win for all. 

 In a perfect world of complete, frictionless markets, accounting would be neutral and 
would accurately reflect the underlying economics of the business without affecting 
economic behaviour. In reality, however, the world is far from perfect. As a result,  
accounting rules can potentially have real and sometimes detrimental effects on things 
that matter for insurance companies such as their cost of capital and investment  
decisions.

 Despite the emergence of the International Financial Reporting Standards (IFRS) frame-
work, and the adoption of IFRS in Europe,1 the standards do not address the complex 
topic of how to value insurance contract liabilities. Instead, insurers in Europe and  
elsewhere continue to use a myriad of national accounting standards for reporting on a key 
aspect of their business activity. These local Generally Accepted Accounting Principles 
(GAAP) do not always adequately reflect the true underlying financial positions and 
performance of insurers. The same critique applies to the existing insurance-specific 
standards of US GAAP, which is widely adopted among large, stock-exchange-listed  
insurers. The disparate accounting treatment across countries and products also makes 
it difficult for external observers to understand and compare insurance accounts.

 To address these issues, international accounting standard setters have been wrestling 
for over a decade with how best to improve insurance accounting to produce more 
meaningful financial reports. The International Accounting Standards Board (IASB),  
an independent accounting standard-setting body of the IFRS Foundation, has sought 
to harmonise insurance accounting practices across countries. Similarly, the US-based  
Financial Accounting Standards Board (FASB) has tried to upgrade US accounting 
rules. However, there is still no general consensus around the appropriate accounting 
conventions to apply to the insurance industry.

 The purpose of this sigma is primarily to review the current state of accounting reform 
as it relates to insurers, the likely path going forward, and the implications for insurers. 
With the IASB and FASB due to issue revised proposals in the first half of 2013, the  
paper will hopefully also provide a timely reference point for insurers to think ahead and 
position themselves in anticipation of the coming accounting standards. Most impor-
tantly, it will articulate some of the key strategic issues that could emerge from the new 
accounting standards, including the potential for insurance companies’ financial state-
ments to become more volatile, the behavioural responses that could follow as insurers 
seek to mitigate such volatility, and the broader impact of insurance accounting reform 
on financial market functioning and the economy.

 

1 See Swiss Re sigma No 7/2004, The impact of IFRS on the insurance industry.

Transparent and consistent accounting  
information allows stakeholders to make 
informed business decisions on the  
allocation of funds.

In theory, accounting should be neutral 
but in practice, the way accounts are  
prepared can have important and  
sometimes detrimental implications.

Currently insurers use various national  
accounting standards, which are not  
always reflective of insurers’ underlying  
financial positions and performance, and 
make international comparison difficult.

Standard setters have therefore been  
trying to develop harmonised practices, 
aiming for more consistent and  
meaningful insurance accounting.

The sigma reviews progress on insurance 
accounting reform and the potential  
implications of the proposed changes.

Introduction



3Swiss Re, sigma No 6/2012

 In order to prepare their financial statements, companies need methods to value their 
assets and liabilities and to recognise associated revenue and expenses. At face value, 
this would seem straightforward. But in fact it raises significant questions concerning 
valuation and measurement. Although these issues are not unique to insurance, they 
are arguably more acute than in many other industries.

 In this section, we briefly review fair value versus historical accounting approaches. This 
wider measurement debate highlights a number of insurance-specific issues that are  
inherently challenging. First, how should insurers deal with the uncertainty surrounding 
the timing and size of future claims and premium payments? Second, how should non-
traded insurance risks and liabilities be valued? And finally, how should insurers account 
for liabilities on products that include a risk and a savings component?

 Fair value versus historical cost accounting

 From an economic perspective, the fair value of any asset or liability is the potential value 
that could be realised if an asset or liability were sold in an open market. In normal trad-
ing conditions, this may be approximated by the prices for identical assets and liabilities 
observed in active markets. The prevailing market price provides an objective assess-
ment of the “amount for which an asset could be exchanged or a liability settled between 
knowledgeable, willing parties in an arm’s length transaction”.2

 Under such a fair value approach, the balance sheet is the primary vehicle for conveying 
information about a firm to its shareholders and other external stakeholders. With all  
assets and liabilities measured at fair value, the firm’s economic net worth is simply  
given by subtracting the value of its assets from its liabilities. Similarly, the firm’s total  
income (or reward to its owners) can be measured as the change in its economic net 
worth or equity over any period (See Figure 1). If assets and liabilities are re-valued 
each period to reflect market prices, total reported income is equal to the change in  
equity regardless of whether any gains or losses are actually realised in that period.

 In contrast, historical cost accounting concentrates on the firm’s current earnings.  
By recognising revenues in the period they are earned and matching them to expenses 
in the period in which obligations are incurred, realised net income in the profit and  
loss account provides an indication of the value-added of the firm’s activities. In this 
case, the balance sheet is somewhat of a by-product of the matching process. It largely  
reflects the original acquisition costs of the assets and liabilities, the accumulation over 
time in reported net income that is not distributed to shareholders, plus any deferred 
revenue or accrued expenses that have yet to be recognised in the profit and loss  
account.

2 See for example, “Technical Summary: IAS 18 Revenue.” IFRS Foundation, January (2012).

In order to prepare their financial  
statements, companies need methods  
to value their assets and liabilities and  
to recognise associated revenue and  
expenses.

This section compares fair value to  
historical accounting and reviews some 
insurance-specific accounting issues.

From an economic perspective, an asset 
or liability’s fair value can generally be  
approximated by the market prices for 
identical assets and liabilities.

Under such a fair value approach, the  
balance sheet is the primary vehicle for 
conveying information to shareholders, 
and total income is equal to the change  
in equity in each period.

In contrast, historical cost-based  
accounting focuses on current revenues 
and expenses.

Inherent challenges for valuing insurance contracts
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Economic 
value of assets 

Economic 
value of liabilities

Economic 
net worth

(Revenues + Realised and 
Unrealised Gains) less 
(Expenses + Realised and 
Unrealised losses

Total (economic) income

(Revenues + Realised gains) 
less (Expenses + Realised losses)

Net (accounting) income

Book value 
of assets 
(including 
deferred 
expenses)

Book value 
of equity

Economic valuation approach

Balance sheet: financial position 
at end of period

P&L: financial performance 
over a period

Historical transaction valuation approach

Balance sheet: financial position 
at end of period

P&L: financial performance 
over a period

Change in 
net asset value

Retained 
earnings

Book value 
of liabilities 
(including 
deferred 
revenues)

Economic 
value of assets 

Economic 
value of liabilities

Economic 
net worth

(Revenues + Realised and 
Unrealised Gains) less 
(Expenses + Realised and 
Unrealised losses)

Total (economic) income

(Revenues + Realised gains) 
less (Expenses + Realised 
losses)

Net (accounting) income

Book value 
of assets 
(including 
deferred 
expenses)

Book value 
of equity

Economic valuation approach

Balance sheet: financial position 
at end of a period.

Profit and loss: financial 
performance over a period.

Historical transaction valuation approach

Balance sheet: financial position 
at end of a period.

Profit and loss: financial 
performance over a period.

Retained 
earnings

Book value 
of liabilities 
(including 
deferred 
revenues)

Change in 
net asset value

 

 

 Source: Swiss Re Economic Research & Consulting

 In principle, the two approaches are not necessarily inconsistent. Under the historical 
cost accounting view, if reported net income in the current period provides a good  
indicator of recurring (or permanent) income, then shareholders can assess the economic 
net worth of the firm by discounting estimates of future earnings at their required rate of 
return. This should be the same as the fair value of the firm’s cumulated total net assets, 
where these include both tangible assets such as real estate and intangibles such as 
the firms’ brand or reputation. If the two approaches led to wildly different outcomes, 
there would be an incentive for the firm’s owners to either break up the firm to release 
the realisable market value or increase their equity stake in order to benefit from the  
additional value offered by combining the firm’s assets and liabilities.

 However, in practice the two methods will produce very different results depending on 
how the various components in the balance sheet and income statement are defined 
and measured. Because intangible assets are hard to measure, a firm’s financial  
accounts will typically not include all such assets (for example, the skills or knowledge 
of its staff) and indeed formal accounting standards often explicitly rule out their inclu-
sion. Similarly, observed market prices for assets and liabilities that are recorded may 
not always give a good guide to their fair value. For example, the prices of financial  
instruments may temporarily move away from their long-term sustainable levels in 
times of heightened financial market illiquidity. In this way, economic income based  
on current trading prices can at times reflect temporary swings in market conditions 
rather than changes in the intrinsic value of the firm’s net assets.

 Moreover, for some assets and liabilities there are simply no identical market instru-
ments to benchmark valuations against. In these cases, fair values must be estimated, 
introducing a further source of measurement error. In theory, any asset or liability can 
be valued as the present discounted value of future expected cash flows, where the  
discount rate takes account of the perceived riskiness of those future payments as well 
as the time value of money. But calculations like these are necessarily subjective, and 
discount rates, if based on market interest rates, can be very volatile. A risk-averse  
investor will attach a higher value to more certain returns than one who is more  
comfortable with payouts that could turn out differently than expected. Further, only 
systematic or non-diversifiable components of risk should matter for valuation.3

3 This is because an investor can in principle eliminate the diversifiable part through their overall choice of  
assets and liabilities.

Figure 1
Financial statement preparation can 
focus on the balance sheet (economic 
approach) or on the income statement 
(historical transaction approach)

In principle, the two approaches are not 
necessarily inconsistent.

However, in practice, they produce very 
different results ...

… particularly because fair values often 
need to be estimated due to a lack of  
market instruments for benchmarking  
valuations.

Inherent challenges for valuing insurance contracts
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 Insurance-specific challenges 

 Measurement problems like the ones described above are particularly critical when  
valuing insurance contracts, which make up the bulk of insurers’ liabilities. This is due to 
the underlying nature of insurance products.

	 The size and timing of future claims and premiums can be highly uncertain
 A key challenge is that future cash flows stemming from insurance contracts are difficult 

to estimate in advance and hence it is hard to place a value on them. For life insurers, a 
core unknown is how long the policyholder will live and the amount of premium income 
that will ultimately be received. In contrast, for non-life insurers, the principal unknown 
is the frequency and severity of claims. This can be quite challenging for long-tail casualty 
lines of business, which can generate large surprises in terms of severity through, for 
example, legal and medical cost escalations.

 The nature of this uncertainty also varies depending on the type of insurance contract. 
Some insurance risks, such as motor cover, are reasonably easy to assess. But other  
insurance products are very complex and the associated liabilities can extend over very 
long time periods. To give long-term life insurance guarantees a value, an insurer must 
consider not only the timing and size of the possible benefits, but also the policyholder’s 
continued willingness to pay premiums. Moreover, external risk factors such as interest 
rates can affect both the value of future payouts and policyholder loyalty to a contract.

	 Insurance risks are not fully tradable
 While insurance risks are not generally traded, some features of insurance contracts 

and their payouts can be mimicked by standard financial instruments. That is, there 
may exist portfolios of traded financial assets (often called replicating assets) which 
produce cash flows that are similar to the underlying insurance liabilities. The market 
value of this replicating portfolio can be used to proxy the insurer’s liabilities to give a 
pure, market-consistent price for the insurance liabilities. It reflects market participants’ 
risk preferences as well their views about the perceived degree of diversification asso-
ciated with insurance risks.

 However, in practice it is not always possible to use traded instruments to value  
insurance liability cash flows. First, there are often no tradable financial assets capable  
of replicating the long-term features of an insurance contract. An example would be  
market-interest rate instruments with maturities of longer than, say, fifty years. Second, 
even if they are available, many financial instruments may need to be combined in order 
to replicate fully a complex set of liabilities, making the valuation of the portfolio poten-
tially very complicated. Third, and related to the above, some insurance risks ultimately 
require exotic or complex financial options to accurately capture potential future  
payouts. Because these instruments are often difficult to price, they do not overcome 
the basic problem of valuing insurance liabilities.

 The inability to fully match insurance liabilities with available assets means that insurers’ 
shareholders may face unexpectedly large insurance payouts that are not covered  
by insurers’ investment returns. If such risks cannot be diversified, shareholders require 
compensation for absorbing them. This compensation increases the economic value  
an insurer must attach to the associated insurance liabilities. Even if there were no  
replication risk (ie insurance liabilities could be fully matched with investable assets),  
insurers would still have to reward shareholders for the opportunity costs they face from 
investing their capital via an insurance company rather than directly in financial markets. 
Such frictional costs of capital include the potential that the management of the  
insurance company may not always act strictly in the shareholders’ best interests. 
Again such costs implicitly raise the economic value of liabilities arising from insurance 
contracts.

Due to the nature of their products,  
insurance companies face particular  
accounting challenges.

Insurance contracts entail uncertain future 
premium payments and claims.

The nature of this uncertainty depends on 
the type of insurance contract.

To some extent, market values of assets 
that have similar cash flows can be used 
to value insurance liabilities.

But this cannot be done for all insurance 
contracts.

Moreover, various frictional costs need to 
be taken into account when calculating 
the economic value of insurance liabilities.
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Inherent challenges for valuing insurance contracts

	 Insurance can include elements of risk protection and savings
 Some insurance products are savings vehicles, where the insurer must reimburse funds 

to the policyholder when the contract expires. Unlike conventional insurance policies 
that involve a payout if some contingent event occurs, savings products automatically 
create a liability for the insurer. They therefore could be accounted for in a different way 
to products that provide policyholders with protection against a particular hazard.

 In fact, premiums from savings-like life insurance products are not themselves a direct 
source of income for insurers. Instead, insurers levy fees on savings-like products, and 
this fee income is reflected in the insurer’s earnings. By contrast, the premiums from 
risk protection products such as a motor insurance policy or a term life contract will  
ultimately be recognised as income when the insurance cover is delivered and reward  
for the insurer for bearing the risk is realised.

 In practice, however, the distinction between the risk protection and savings elements 
of insurance is not always clear. For example, some types of life insurance policy, those 
which offer individuals a way to accumulate savings, also include embedded options 
such as guarantees of minimum returns or surrender options, or options for the policy-
holder to reduce or extend the cover. Such features may be closely tied to the risk  
protection element (for example, guaranteed minimum death benefits) or their cost may 
be bundled together in the total premium for the insurance product.

 

Insurance contracts can include elements 
of risk protection and savings.

The recognition of income is different for 
savings and risk-protection products.

In practice, some insurance contracts 
combine risk protection with savings, and 
it is sometimes difficult to disentangle the 
two.



7Swiss Re, sigma No 6/2012

 In this section, we provide a brief overview of the prevailing insurance accounting  
practices. Progressively, many jurisdictions have developed mixed attribute, transactions-
based accounting models – they usually value assets at historic costs or at current  
market values depending on their intended use and employ actuarial estimates for future  
insurance liabilities. But there is a wide range of existing practices across the globe, 
which means that it is hard to compare insurers from different countries.

 Given the measurement challenges discussed in the previous section, insurers – much 
like firms in other sectors – have traditionally adopted a historical transaction approach 
to bookkeeping. Reflecting the primacy of the profit and loss statement, premiums/
costs are not recognised when received/paid but are instead deferred/accrued over 
the term of the policy as the insurance cover is provided. This is in keeping with the  
deferral and matching accounting method.

 In terms of the balance sheet, insurers’ assets, most of which are traded financial instru-
ments, have historically been valued at their original acquisition cost less any allowance 
for repayment of principal, the potential for non-repayment (ie non-performance/ 
impairment), or depreciation. Insurers that incur large upfront expenses when issuing new 
business, such as commissions to sales agents, typically capitalise these costs (ie add 
them to their intangible assets in the balance sheet). They spread the recognition  
of these deferred acquisition costs (DAC) against income over the term of the policy.

 The lack of an active market in insurance risks implies that there is no observable cost 
for all insurance liabilities at the time when policies are sold. Instead, accountants in  
insurance companies rely on actuarial valuations to build up technical provisions (or loss 
reserves) to cover future, as yet unpaid claims which appear as liabilities on the balance 
sheet. These technical provisions represent the insurer’s best estimate of the value of 
prospective future payouts for each insurance contract, often based on the single most 
likely perceived scenario. Deferred premiums are also used to build an unearned  
premium reserve that acts as a buffer to cover claims that might occur in the future over 
the remaining term of the insurance policy.

 Given the significant uncertainty surrounding potential claims, conservative accounting 
conventions have tended to encourage insurers to establish sufficient reserves to cover 
known future claims as well as those which have been incurred even if they have not 
yet been reported. Indeed, an overarching principle when calculating technical provisions 
is often to ensure that policyholders are protected from a situation where the insurer is 
unable to pay.

 A mixed attribute accounting model

 To a large degree, insurers still prepare their financial accounts according to these proce-
dures. But insurance accounting conventions have evolved over time to reflect general 
trends and integrate best practices, shifting away from historical transaction principles 
towards measures that better reflect fair, or at least current, market valuations.4

 In periods of asset price appreciation, historical cost-based valuations of financial assets 
tend to underestimate their underlying value and thereby understate a company’s true 
worth. By the same token, when asset prices fall, historical metrics can fail to recognise 
important falls in value soon enough. Similarly, on the liability side, prudent reserving 
practices may encourage the build-up of hidden reserves that could distort an insurer’s 
true economic position. By timing the creation and release of such hidden reserves an 
insurer could smooth reported earnings so that the emerging profits no longer reflect 
current performance. Furthermore, the absence of a deep market for insurance liabilities 
makes it hard for external observers to monitor and evaluate the appropriateness  
of such reserves.

4 Current valuation is a broader concept than fair value since it also captures other measurement criteria such 
as: value to the business (also known as deprival value), realisable value and value in use.

This section reviews the issues related to 
the range and differences in international 
accounting practices.

Insurance accounting is traditionally 
based on a historical transaction approach 
to bookkeeping.

Valuing assets at historical cost is generally 
straightforward.

Insurers build up technical provisions to 
cover insurance liabilities ...

… and seek to maintain prudent buffers to 
cover what can be highly uncertain future 
payouts.

Over time, more emphasis has been 
placed on introducing market values into 
insurance accounting …

… because historical-based metrics do not 
always reflect realistic valuations of future 
cash flows.

A brief review of current insurance accounting practice
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 Therefore, most countries require insurers to value at least some of their investments at 
market prices. Insurers must typically categorise their assets according to intended use. 
Assets which are to be held to maturity can be valued at the original acquisition cost or 
amortised cost.5 Other assets, labelled “available for sale” or “held for trading” must be 
valued using a current market price for the asset (a practice called “marking-to-market”) 
or a constructed measure based on current market inputs (a method called “marking-
to-model”).

 The shift towards current market valuations for some assets means that unrealised gains 
and losses are reflected in insurers’ accounts. To avoid the volatility that these unrealised 
gains and losses might imply for reported earnings, accounting standard setters intro-
duced a distinction between net income that is recorded in the profit and loss account 
and Other Comprehensive Income (OCI) which is not. The latter allows period-to-period 
fluctuations in the value of “available for sale” assets to be directly included in overall 
equity without affecting net income (see Figure 2). In this way, the balance sheet reflects 
the current market values of an insurer’s assets where relevant, and only realised gains 
and losses on these investments flow through the profit and loss account.6 Eventually, 
the changes in accumulated OCI may make their way to the regular income statement, 
although not until the company has sold the asset or recognised the liability.

 

Total income = 
change in value 
of net assets

Net income

Other 
comprehensive 
income

Reported 
earnings

Retained 
earnings

Accumulated 
OCI

Contributed 
capital

Book value 
of equity

Profit and loss Balance sheet

(Financial 
performance 
over a period)

(Financial position 
at end of period)

Total income = 
change in value 
of net assets

Net income

Other 
comprehensive 
income

Reported 
earnings

Cumulative 
retained 
earnings

Accumulated 
OCI

Contributed 
capital

Book value 
of equity

Profit and loss: 
financial 
performance 
over a period.

Balance sheet: 
financial position 
at end of a period.

Balance sheet: financial position 
at end of period

Unrealised 
gains/losses(a)

 

 (a)   As well as unrealised gains/losses on “available for sale” securities, accumulated OCI will include the  
effects of changes in foreign-currency exchange rates on consolidated foreign-currency financial statements, 
certain gains and losses on financial derivatives, and adjustments for underfunded pension plans.

 Source: Swiss Re Economic Research & Consulting

 Based on an Ernst & Young analysis of insurers’ 2010 financial statements, insurers who 
are predominantly active in continental Europe and the US classify over 60% of their  
investments as “available for sale”.7 This suggests that insurers generally recognise the 
current market prices of their assets although most valuation changes do not immedi-
ately affect reported net income.

5 Amortised cost is the amount at which a financial asset or financial liability is measured at initial recognition, 
less principal repayments and plus or minus any unamortised original premium or discount.

6 In the case of investments held for trading purposes, gains and losses arising from changes in fair value from 
period to period are included in profit and loss. Similarly valuation changes in assets that are designated as 
Fair Value Through Profit and Loss at inception are recorded in net income.

7 See “Measure by measure: Synchronizing IFRS 9 and IFRS 4 Phase II for Insurers.” Ernst & Young, (2011). 

Assets held as “available for sale” or for 
trading are measured at market values.

Unrealised gains and losses are therefore 
reflected in insurers’ accounts, although 
these fluctuations in value may not always 
affect reported earnings.

Figure 2
Stylised example of accounting  
treatment for a company’s income

In general, most of insurers’ assets tend  
to reflect current market valuations.

A brief review of current insurance accounting practice
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 Compared with assets, much less progress has been made in adopting fair value princi-
ples on the liability side of insurers’ balance sheets. The result is that a mixed attribute 
accounting model has developed. Some parts of insurers’ asset portfolio are reported 
at market values while liabilities continue to reflect actuarial assumptions and a deferral-
and-matching approach to prospective future claims.8 This means that existing insurance 
accounting practices not only create the potential for various accounting mismatches 
(inconsistent measurement of assets and liabilities) but can also mask important  
economic valuation differences (see Box: “Economic versus accounting mismatch”).

 Economic versus accounting mismatch

 It is important to distinguish two key types of valuation mismatches that can affect 
firms’ accounting statements.

 Accounting	mismatch arises if changes in the economic conditions affect assets and  
liabilities to the same extent but different measurement bases mean that their recorded 
values do not respond equally to those economic changes.

 
 Economic	mismatch	arises if the values of assets and liabilities (or the associated cash 

flows) respond differently to changes in underlying economic conditions.

 Ideally, any accounting system would seek to eliminate accounting mismatch. This is 
because such mismatches can distort the true picture of a firm’s financial position and 
performance by introducing artificial reporting volatility. In contrast, volatility arising from 
economic mismatches should be reflected in accounts to the extent that they are relevant 
to the firm’s underlying economic business model (ie genuine economic volatility).

 Different local generally accepted accounting principles (GAAP)

 Within the mixed attribute model, there are significant differences in accounting  
practice from country to country. For example, the criteria used to assess the scale and  
timing of asset impairment vary across jurisdictions. Reserving practice for insurance  
liabilities also differs widely. To some extent, these inconsistencies reflect the different 
regulatory frameworks that formed the initial basis for local GAAP accounting in insur-
ance. For example, life insurers reporting under UK GAAP have based their long-term  
reserves on regulatory technical provisions. More generally, insurance accounting has 
come to rely to a great deal on country-specific actuarial methods to value liabilities.

8 Foroughi, Kamran, et al. “Insurance accounting: a new era? A discussion paper.” April (2011).

Because liabilities are book-valued, this 
means insurance accounting is a largely 
mixed attribute model.

It is important to distinguish between  
accounting and economic mismatch.

Ideally, any accounting system would  
seek to eliminate accounting mismatch, 
but would reflect economic mismatches  
to the extent they are relevant to the  
firm’s business model.

Within the mixed attribute model,  
significant cross-country differences  
in accounting remain, often  
reflecting local actuarial practice.
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Table 1: 
Key features of local GAAP treatment for  
insurance companies in selected countries 

LIAbILItIES ASSEtS
Insurance contracts Intangibles Investments

Country Locked-in  
actuarial  
assumptions?(a)

Discounted (rate)? Technical  
provisions for 
uncertainty?

Deferred acquisition costs 
(DAC) allowed?

Market values?(b)

US Non-life ✕ ✕ ✕ ✓ (direct costs only) ✓ (AFS and Trading)
Life ✓ ✓ (asset return) ✓ ✓ ✓ (AFS and Trading)

Japan Non-life ✓ ✕ ✓ ✕ ✓ (AFS and Trading)
Life ✓ ✓  (regulatory rate) ✓ ✕ ✓ (AFS and Trading)

Germany Non-life ✕ ✕ ✓ ✓ ✕

Life ✕ ✓ (asset return) ✓ ✓ ✓  (Lower of market price and cost)
UK Non-life ✕ ✕ ✓ ✓ ✓ (AFS and Trading)

Life ✕ ✓ (asset return) ✓ ✓  (but not for with-profits 
funds)

✓ (AFS and Trading)

Italy Non-life ✕ ✕ ✓ ✕ ✓  (Lower of market price and cost)
Life ✕ ✓ (asset return) ✕ ✓ ✓  (Lower of market price and cost)

China Non-life ✕ ✓  (adjusted risk-free rate) ✓ ✓ ✓ (AFS and Trading)
Life ✕ ✓  (adjusted risk-free rate) ✓ ✓ ✓ (AFS and Trading)

Canada Non-life ✕ ✓ (asset return) ✓ ✓ ✓ (AFS and Trading)
Life ✕ ✓ (asset return) ✓ ✓ ✓ (AFS and Trading)

Australia Non-life ✕ ✓  (adjusted risk-free rate) ✓ ✓ ✓ (AFS and Trading)
Life ✕ ✓  (adjusted risk-free rate) ✓ ✓ ✓ (AFS and Trading

(a)  “X” refers to not applicable or not used.

(b)  AFS refers to “available for sale”.

Source: Swiss Re Economic Research & Consulting

 The table above summarises some of the key features of local GAAP in selected major 
insurance markets. There are prominent differences both across countries and types  
of policy. For example, in the US and Japan, estimated life insurance liabilities are  
measured on a “locked-in” basis, meaning they are established at inception and are not  
subsequently updated unless there is reason to believe a reserve deficiency exists.  
Furthermore, unlike life policies, reserves associated with non-life insurance liabilities 
are generally presented on an ultimate loss basis (ie based on undiscounted expected 
future net claims) although sometimes additional provisions are also implicitly included 
to allow for the inherent uncertainty around the central estimates.

 towards a unified set of global standards 

 That accounting treatments differ across countries has been a source of weakness for 
insurers’ financial reporting, especially as globalisation in the industry has become 
more pervasive. As a result, national standard setters have increasingly sought to intro-
duce more consistent measurement methods as part of a general convergence in inter-
national accounting standards across all sectors. Under the auspices of the International 
Accounting Standards Committee and its successor the IASB, local GAAP have often 
been supplemented by international accounting standards (IAS/IFRS) that guide firms 
in the preparation of accounts. The features of particular IAS/IFRS have also tended to 
influence local GAAP.

Accounting treatments under local  
GAAP also differ across types of insurance 
policy.

Over time, international accounting  
standards have been slowly introduced ...

A brief review of current insurance accounting practice
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 Both national and international standard setters continue to promote greater uniformity 
in accounting for both assets and liabilities in pursuit of more transparent financial  
reporting, greater comparability among companies across borders and industries, and 
a better reflection of the economic substance of an entity’s business in financial state-
ments. Indeed, for some time, the trend has been to phase out local GAAP slowly in  
favour of IFRS.

 Some progress was achieved in the mid-to-late 2000s, with many countries adopting 
IFRS or putting in place transition plans to switch to the international accounting stand-
ards. In 2004, the IASB issued IFRS 4 (Phase 1), which for the first time clearly defined 
an insurance contract and spelled out numerous new disclosure rules. Up until that 
point, the lack of any clear definition as to what distinguishes insurance from other 
types of financial contracts had contributed to the plethora of different accounting 
treatments.

 However, the standard stopped short of providing directions on how to measure insur-
ance contract liabilities. Instead, the first phase of IFRS 4 simply stipulated that insurers 
reporting on an IFRS-basis were allowed to continue to apply their existing local GAAP 
for insurance contracts. As a result, the significant cross-border differences for valuing 
insurance liabilities remained unaddressed. When it comes to insurance, IFRS in Europe 
is currently a mixed bag of grandfathered standards. Multinational companies are often 
forced to compile aggregates based on subsidiaries reporting under different local GAAP, 
even though they may involve very different underlying valuation bases.

 Looking ahead, the development of common international accounting standards in  
insurance awaits significant progress on two key proposals currently being deliberated 
by standard setters9:
 ̤ IFRS 9 – financial instruments (which will replace IAS 39), and
 ̤ IFRS 4 – insurance contracts (Phase 2).

 The IASB and the FASB are pursuing these jointly although ultimately they may issue 
separate standards.10 Together, the two accounting standards will ultimately form the 
backbone of insurers’ financial accounts.

 Recent experience suggests that the path to final adoption is likely to be neither short 
nor smooth. The deadline for IFRS 4 Phase 2 has been progressively delayed – originally 
the whole standard was to be introduced around the mid-2000s, but implementation is 
now unlikely before 2016. Similarly, updating IFRS 9 has been a slow process, partially 
reflecting criticism of the role fair value accounting approaches may have played in  
accentuating the recent financial crisis. The sharp falls in asset prices had posed signifi-
cant solvency threats for a number of insurers whose liabilities had not fallen in step 
with their assets.11 Accounting reform under US GAAP has faced similar timetable issues 
and criticisms.

 

9 The references here are, for ease of exposition, to the standards as they will be named under the IASB’s IFRS. 
The same or similar standards will have different names under US GAAP.

10 The financial instruments standard is part of a formal convergence project between the IASB and the FASB, 
under a Memorandum of Understanding agreed to in 2006. The insurance contracts standard is not formally 
part of the joint program of the Boards, though they continue to deliberate together. See “IASB/FASB update 
status of convergence projects,” KPMG, Issue 2012/06, May (2012).

11 Some insurance accounting practices allow insurers to discount their liabilities with rates linked to asset  
returns. So these insurers were less affected as both sides of their balance sheet declined in tandem.

… with the aim of developing a single set  
of global standards.

Some progress has been made with the 
adoption of IFRS in many countries.

But IFRS 4 (Phase 1) largely endorsed  
current local practices for valuing  
insurance contract liabilities.

More significant progress on insurance  
accounting reform will depend on  
the finalisation of IFRS 4 (Phase 2) and 
IFRS 9 …

…however, the timetable for reform has 
been progressively pushed back.
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 two key accounting reform proposals
 
	 IFRS 9
 IFRS 9 applies to the valuation of financial assets and non-insurance financial liabilities 

across all companies, not just insurers. Work on IFRS 9 was divided into three phases. 
The first phase of IFRS 9 involved rationalising the accounting classification of financial 
assets. The accounting treatment of non-insurance liabilities under IFRS 9 was to a 
large degree unchanged from existing arrangements.

 The first phase of IFRS 9 was finalised and issued in 2010. But the IASB decided in  
November 2011 to re-visit parts of the standard and make targeted improvements, even 
though some jurisdictions had already adopted IFRS 9. Anticipating potential revisions, 
the IASB also decided to postpone the mandatory application of IFRS 9 from annual  
reporting periods starting January 1, 2013 to 2015, with early application permitted.12

 The second phase of IFRS 9, which is still in development, aims to introduce a more  
forward-looking assessment of non-performance risk into the valuation of financial assets. 
For assets held at market value13, this risk should already be reflected in their valuation. 
But under existing accounting treatments, those financial instruments that are held in 
the balance sheet at amortised cost can remain at that value even if the insurer suspects 
that at least part of the investment will not be recovered. Only if a trigger event has  
occurred that provides concrete evidence of non-performance is the insurer required to 
mark down the value of these investments. This can lead to delays in recognising losses 
and an abrupt adjustment of income when the trigger event takes place. To address 
this, the latest IFRS 9 proposals would require firms to account for prospective credit 
losses through a reduction in expected cash flows (such as interest payments in the 
context of a bond investment), whether a trigger event has occurred or not. The aim is 
to provide a more accurate and timely estimate of the economic valuation of the assets 
held in companies’ investment portfolios.14

 The third phase of the financial instruments standard is concerned with simplifying  
existing rules for hedge accounting – ways that companies use derivative instruments 
to affect how mark-to-market gains and losses on financial instruments held to offset 
underlying risks in their business are recognised in the profit and loss account. Overall, 
the intention is to better align the hedge accounting principles with an entity’s own risk 
management activities.15 A draft standard was released in the third quarter of 2012, 
and is expected to be finalised at the end of the year.

12 The postponement was formally announced on August 4, 2011, and confirmed with an amendment  
in December 2011. See Press Release, “IASB proposes adjustment to effective date of IFRS 9.” IASB,  
August (2011).

13 “Available for sale” and “held for trading” categories.
14 See “Exposure Draft Snapshot: Financial Instruments: Amortised Cost and Impairment.” IFRS Foundation, 

November (2009).
15 See “Exposure Draft, ED/2010/13 Hedge Accounting.” IASB, December (2010) and “Briefing Sheet:  

Exposure Draft ED/2010/13 Hedge Accounting.” KPMG, Issue 225, December (2010).

IFRS 9 provides guidance on valuing  
financial assets and non-insurance  
liabilities.

Despite a finalised standard issued in 
2010, the IASB has recently decided  
to re-open the first phase of IFRS 9 to 
make targeted improvements.

The second phase of the financial  
instruments standard deals with non- 
performance and aims at a more forward-
looking approach for potential credit  
losses.

The final phase of IFRS 9 will review and 
simplify hedge accounting rules.

 Prospective changes to accounting and the surrounding points of contention
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	 IFRS 4
 Following the adoption of a broad definition of insurance contracts under IFRS 4 Phase 

1, Phase 2 of the project seeks to put in place a dedicated standard for measuring the  
liabilities arising from such contracts.

 The IASB originally proposed the idea of a current “exit value”16, in line with the definition 
of fair value subsequently set out in IFRS 13 (Fair Value Measurement), as the valuation 
basis for insurance liabilities. The current “exit value” is the price at which insurance 
contract liabilities could be transferred to another entity if there were active markets  
to trade in such obligations. In response to industry concerns that the new accounting 
standard should reflect the way that insurers actually manage their businesses, the 
IASB/FASB settled on a “fulfilment value” approach. The fulfilment value approach  
involves valuing liabilities not on the basis of the compensation that a third party would 
need to be paid to assume the risk, but rather the cost to the insurer of fulfilling the  
obligations under the contract as they come due.

 Despite the shift in measurement basis, the standard setters maintained their emphasis 
on valuing insurance contract liabilities based on a discounted cash flow approach. 
More specifically, the proposed valuation procedure suggests that liabilities be calculated 
as the sum of the following building blocks:

 –  discounted	future	expected	cash	flows. An insurer’s best estimate of projected future 
claims and premiums on insurance contracts taking into account the time value of 
money as well as particular characteristics of the liability such as illiquidity.

 – 	a	risk/residual	margin.	In the IASB model, the risk margin, or risk adjustment, acts  
as a buffer to cover uncertainty (including random estimation errors) surrounding the 
best estimate of future liabilities.17 A separate residual margin is calibrated to avoid 
any day-one profit being recognised for the insurance contract (see Box on the  
following page). In the FASB model, there is a single composite margin.

 While the standard setters envisaged that the detailed building-block model would be 
applied to all insurance contracts, a modified model for use with short-duration contracts 
(Premium Allocation Approach) is now the subject of ongoing debate. The lion’s share 
of non-life business would fall under short-term contracts, as these premiums can be 
re-priced annually, whereas life insurance contracts often span many years.

16 “Preliminary views on insurance contracts.” IASB Discussion Paper, May (2007).
17 Rubin, Larry, Ranson, Nick and Shi, Xiaokai. “Risk Margins: New Wine in an Old Bottle,” The Financial  

Reporter (Society of Actuaries), September (2009).

IFRS 4 Phase 2 seeks to put in place a 
dedicated standard for valuing insurance 
contract liabilities.

At first, the IASB proposed “exit value” as 
the basis for the fair value measurement  
of most financial instruments, including  
insurance contracts, but has since shifted 
to a “fulfilment value” approach.

The proposed insurance liability  
valuation model is based on a building-
block approach.

A modified model for use with short- 
duration contracts is the subject of  
ongoing debate.
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 IASb-proposed building-block model for valuing insurance liabilities

 

Risk-adjusted 
present value of 
the fulfilment 
cash flows  

Calibrated to eliminate 
any day-one profit

Should reflect the 
variability of the cash 
flows, and be determined 
from the insurer’s 
perspective

Refers to mean value, 
and does not require 
all possible scenarios 
to be quantified

Residual
margin

Risk adjustment

Probability-weighted expected 
cash flows, discounted for the time 

value of money

 

 
 Source: IASB 

	 Block	one:	discounted	cash	flows
 The first building block, the best estimate, consists of an explicit, unbiased, and proba-

bility-weighted estimate (ie expected value) of the future cash flows that arise as the  
insurer fulfils its contract. These expected cash flows are discounted to allow for the 
time value of money to derive the present value of fulfilment cash flows.

 The standard does not require that all possible scenarios be quantified in the best estimate. 
But all future cash flows need to be adjusted for the time value of money using a discount 
rate that is “consistent with observable current market prices for instruments with  
cash flows whose characteristics reflect those of the insurance liability, in terms of, for 
example, timing, currency and liquidity.”18 

	 Block	two:	risk	adjustment
 The second component of the building-block model is the risk adjustment, which is 

added to the present value of fulfilment cash flows.19 This risk margin exists because  
insurance liabilities are associated with uncertain cash flows, so the measurement  
of these liabilities needs to reflect that uncertainty, both favourable and unfavourable  
outcomes. Since the proposed measurement model is based on a “fulfilment value”, not 
on an “exit value”, the risk adjustment is an explicit estimate of the effects of uncertainty 
about the amount and timing of cash flows from the perspective of the individual insurer.

 The risk adjustment is to be re-measured at each reporting period, with any changes 
recognised in the profit and loss account. Combined with the best estimates of insur-
ance liabilities, the margin effectively replaces the various types of technical provisions 
that insurers usually use.

18 “Exposure Draft, ED/2010/8 Insurance Contracts,” IASB, July (2010).
19 This is equivalent to adjusting the discount rate downward.

Figure 3: 
IASb building-block model

The present value of fulfilment cash flows 
is the first building block of the insurance 
liability.

This so-called best estimate should be 
based on a discount rate that reflects the 
cash flow characteristics of the liability.

The IASB’s risk adjustment is an explicit 
estimate of the effects of uncertainty 
about the amount and timing of cash flows 
from the insurer’s perspective.

The risk adjustment is to be re-measured 
each period with changes recognised in 
the profit and loss account.

Prospective changes to accounting and the surrounding points of contention
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 The IASB initially proposed that the risk adjustment be determined at the level of a  
portfolio of insurance contracts. However, many observers felt this restriction did not  
reflect how an insurer actually prices insurance risks, taking into account the diversification 
benefits across its business. The concern was that the risk adjustment would be over-
stated, resulting in losses at inception for some portfolios that the insurer actually  
expected to be profitable. In response, the IASB has tentatively decided to remove  
the portfolio restriction for the risk adjustment, as long as the resulting measure is  
in keeping with the spirit of the proposed standard.20 

	 Block	three:	residual	(profit)	margin
 In the case that the expected present value of the future cash inflows related to the  

insurance contract exceed the expected present value of the future cash outflows plus 
the risk adjustment, a residual margin is immediately recognised on the balance sheet 
in the amount of the difference. In contrast, any initial loss is recognised immediately as 
an expense against current income.

 The residual margin is measured within a portfolio of contracts with similar start dates 
and duration. In the initial IASB proposals, it was to be locked in at the inception date, 
and amortised in a systematic way over the lifetime of the contract.21 Here again though, 
the IASB has moved away from its earlier proposals, and has tentatively decided that 
the residual margin should be adjusted for both favourable and unfavourable changes 
in cash flow estimates in each reporting period.22 

 Outstanding points of contention

 Although significant progress has been made in laying out a standard framework for  
insurance accounting through extensive consultation and revision of the original  
proposals, a number of issues still need to be resolved. As a result, the IASB decided at 
its September 2012 meeting to seek further stakeholder input on the IFRS 4 standard,  
albeit in a very targeted way. The obstacles can be broadly categorised as follows: how 
to assess insurance liabilities appropriately, how to establish a consistent approach for 
assets and liabilities, and how to recognise/present earnings.

 Appropriately assessing insurance liabilities
 Reflecting the underlying conceptual difficulties, considerable debate has surrounded 

the measurement framework for valuing insurance liabilities.

	 Using	building	blocks
 In general, the building-block approach to valuing insurance liabilities has received 

broad support, particularly from life insurers whose separate, industry-led initiatives 
have developed additional financial reporting methods that are similar in spirit to the 
IFRS 4 proposals. Especially in Europe, life insurers have developed actuarial, market 
consistent embedded value (MCEV) measures that are routinely reported alongside 
their financial accounts. Through the MCEV lens, overall insurer value is measured by 
adding the current value of in-force business (ie discounted future profits on in-force 
policies) to the market value of net assets (ie accumulated past profits).23 

20 “IFRS – Insurance Newsletter,” KPMG, Issue 22, December (2011).
21 “Exposure Draft, ED/2010/8 Insurance Contracts.” IASB, July (2010).
22 “Adjusting the residual margin for changes in estimates,” IFRS Staff Paper, June (2012).
23 For a more detailed explanation, see Swiss Re sigma No 1/2012, Understanding profitability in life  

insurance.

The risk adjustment may take into account 
diversification effects within and across 
insurance portfolios.

The residual margin is to be calibrated 
to eliminate any day-one profit arising 
from the risk-adjusted present value of  
the fulfilment cash flows.

The IASB has tentatively decided that  
the margin should be adjusted for both  
favourable and unfavourable changes  
in cash flow estimates in each reporting 
period.

Despite extensive consultation on  
the proposals for insurance accounting,  
considerable differences in opinion  
persist.

Valuing insurance liabilities remains  
contentious.

There is broad support for the building-
block approach in IFRS 4, especially 
among life insurers.
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 However, some parts of the insurance industry remain sceptical that the building-block 
approach can be universally applied across the entire sector. Many non-life insurers, 
particularly in the US, believe that the existing approach to estimating future liabilities, 
where claims reserves are determined on an ultimate basis, remains the most informa-
tive way to present their accounts. So much so, that they advocate a completely separate 
valuation model for non-life insurance to better reflect the underlying nature of the 
products.

 Indeed, there are concerns that a one-size-fits-all approach may not be appropriate, and 
in fact even the IASB and FASB are not in complete agreement as to whether or not the 
premium allocation approach should be thought of as a separate model or simply as a 
proxy to the full building-block model.24 Although the FASB and IASB will continue to 
work together on the insurance contract project, the US authorities may look to endorse 
the existing US GAAP approach that uses separate accounting models for short-duration 
(typically non-life and health) and long-duration (typically life) contracts.

	 Calibrating	an	appropriate	risk/residual	margin	adjustment
 Even if the building-block model for deriving best estimates of insurance liabilities is 

universally adopted, the appropriate composition of the blocks remains a subject of 
fierce debate. In particular, disagreement exists on the subject of risk/residual margins, 
not only in terms of how to reflect the uncertainty in best estimate cash flows, but also 
how any margins ought to be released into profit over time as protection is provided to 
the policyholder.

 Most of the difficulty relates to the lack of objective criteria for measuring the risk  
adjustment. If insurance risks were fully traded, the market value of the liability or, 
equivalently, its replicating portfolio would reflect the equilibrium price of the risk  
associated with the insurance contract. But in estimating the current “fulfilment value”, 
the use of entity-specific information means that different firms may calibrate the  
risk margin in different ways, even if the underlying uncertainties over the future cash 
flows are similar.

 The IFRS 4 proposals give some general guidelines on desirable features of the risk  
adjustment. For example, risks of low frequency and high-severity events should lead to 
a larger risk adjustment than those with high frequency and low severity. Beyond that 
though, insurers must decide on the methods and assumptions employed which inevitably 
introduces subjectivity.

 One approach to calibrating the risk adjustment is to reflect the capital cost to the insurer 
of bearing the associated insurance risks. Importantly, the relevant cost of capital relates 
only to non-hedgeable (ie replication) risks and other frictional costs of holding capital 
to cover insurance liabilities, including for example having to refinance in distressed 
market conditions. Some commentators suggest that this capital cost should be reason-
ably constant over time, reflecting some form of through-the-cycle estimation of the 
costs of raising capital, although in practice insurers will employ different assump-
tions.25 The standard setters hope that increased disclosure requirements on the risk/
residual margin may over time encourage convergence of approaches between insurers.

 The difficulty of isolating the risk component from the overall profit margin that insurers 
earn on their insurance business is one argument for a single, combined margin as  
advocated by the FASB. According to some, trying to separate out the risk and residual 
margins simply imparts spurious accuracy and adds to the burden of accounting with-
out much clear benefit.26 Additionally, some point out that the two-margin approach is 
inconsistent with accounting requirements for other financial institutions. For example, 
banks do not report a separate risk margin for the loans they make, despite the presence 
of active loan sale and securitisation markets whose information could potentially be 
used to calculate such margins.

24 Deloitte, “Insurance Accounting Newsletter,” Issue 24, March (2012).
25 See for example, Brown, Anthony. “Demystifying the risk margin, theory, practice and regulation” presented 

to Staple Inn Actuarial Society in May 2012.
26 “HUB Summary – paper 1,” HUB Global Insurance Group, March (2011).

But some parts of the sector remain  
unconvinced that the valuation method 
will produce meaningful results.

Even the standard setters seem to have 
different views on the model for short-
term insurance contracts.

A substantive area of debate relates to  
the calibration of the risk/residual margins 
on insurance liabilities.

Allowing entity-specific information 
means that different insurers may  
calibrate the same risks in different  
ways.

IFRS 4 provides some guidance about the 
general features for the risk adjustment 
but stops short of prescribing preferred 
methods.

The risk adjustment should reflect only  
the non-hedgeable risks and frictional 
costs of capital.

Proponents of the combined margin  
approach see the separation of the risk 
and residual components for insurance 
companies as not decision-useful.

Prospective changes to accounting and the surrounding points of contention
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 In contrast, supporters of the two margin approach (including the IASB) argue that the 
separate risk margin provides users of financial statements with useful information 
about the insurer’s own perceptions of the effects of uncertainty over the amount and 
timing of future liability cash flows. This insight into insurance executives’ views of the 
risk in their business, if accompanied by sufficient disclosures, might allow analysts to 
formulate better peer comparisons in terms of how insurers manage and mitigate insur-
ance risk, and evaluate the degree of conservatism that different companies build into 
their liabilities.

	 Locking-in	assumptions	versus	periodically	re-measuring
 According to the IASB, the underlying components of the risk-adjusted present value of 

the fulfilment cash flows (expected future cash flows, discount rate, and the risk adjust-
ment) should all be updated for current assumptions at each reporting period. Likewise, 
the IASB has tentatively moved away from locking in the residual margin. Originally, the 
residual margin was to be locked-in at inception, and amortised over the coverage period. 
In more recent deliberations however, the IASB decided that changes in estimates of  
future cash flows should be offset against or added to the residual margin each period,  
so that the changes would be recognised in profit or loss in future periods, when the 
adjusted residual margin is allocated to income.27 

 The FASB’s valuation model, on the other hand, proposes a locked-in single margin at 
inception.28 The proposed composite margin would not be updated each period, unless 
there is material evidence that a reserve deficiency exists. The rationale is that since the 
margin largely reflects deferred profit associated with providing the risk protection, it 
ought to be recognised over the life of the insurance contract in a systematic way.  
However, a locked-in single margin can lead to a rather awkward result if, shortly after it  
is established, a contract becomes unprofitable. In such a case, the updated cash flow 
estimates would suggest a significant loss in the period in question, while the margin 
would continue to be released into profit in subsequent periods.

 By the same token, the latest IASB proposals involve a somewhat hybrid treatment,  
including features of both a deferral-and-matching as well as a fair value approach. 
Some insurers argue that this does not permit a coherent interpretation of the results, 
and advocate a consistent treatment across all of the various valuation building blocks. 
Yet an approach closer to full fair value would, among other things, require the possibility  
of recognising profit at contract inception, meaning the removal of the residual margin 
altogether.29 

	 Choosing	a	discount	rate
 Under the proposed accounting treatment, insurers are allowed to use either a bottom-

up or top-down approach to determine the discount rate. In the first approach, an illiquidity 
premium is added to the risk free rate in discounting their liabilities. In the top-down  
approach, an asset-based rate for different currencies is the starting point, from which 
an allowance for credit risk and other characteristics not relevant to the liability are  
deducted.

 The difficulty with both methods arises because decomposing interest rates into the 
various risk components is not straightforward.30 There is no single widely-accepted 
method of calculating an explicit illiquidity premium. If this premium is positive, its  
addition to the risk-free rate will result in a higher discount rate and a lower value for the 
liabilities. But because a complete set of replicating assets does not exist for all insurance 
liabilities, it is not clear that an asset-based estimate of the liquidity premium is repre-
sentative of the true compensation for the illiquidity in liabilities. Put another way, if an 
insurer invests completely in highly liquid assets, does this mean that the illiquidity  
premium in liabilities is practically zero?

27 “Adjusting the residual margin for changes in estimates.” IFRS Staff Paper, June (2012).
28 “IFRS – Insurance Newsletter.” KPMG, Issue 25, April (2012).
29 “Comment letter on the IASB’s Exposure Draft.” Towers Watson, November (2010).
30 “Discount rates: one size does not fit all.” Ernst & Young, October (2011).

But some observers note that the risk  
margin would be informative about an  
insurer’s perceptions of risk in their  
portfolio.

The IASB model proposes that the risk 
margin is updated each reporting period 
to reflect the latest information.

In contrast, the FASB model runs off a 
locked-in single margin at inception, even 
though this can delay the recognition of 
expected losses.

Equally, a partial lock-in can also potentially 
produce misleading accounting results.

Under the proposed accounting treatment, 
insurers are allowed either a bottom-up  
or top-down approach to choosing a  
discount rate.

The difficulty with both methods arises 
because decomposing market interest 
rates into the various risk components is 
not straightforward.
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 Consistently valuing assets and liabilities
 A key concern among insurers is avoiding artificial volatility in their financial reporting 

associated with accounting mismatches or changes in market conditions that are not 
relevant for their business model. Some assets and liabilities are formally linked in specific 
savings products, such as participating life insurance policies, which means that adopt-
ing different treatments can lead to accounting mismatches. Consequently, the industry 
has lobbied hard for a symmetric accounting treatment for both sides of the balance 
sheet. In addition, insurers are keen to synchronise the implementation timetables of 
IFRS 4 and IFRS 9 in order to avoid any inconsistencies in asset and liability valuation.

 Allowing for contract unbundling into insurance and deposit-like features is part of the 
latest IFRS 4 proposals. But a number of important points of detail have still to be  
resolved, such as how far unbundling should apply to investments that cannot be linked 
to the insurance contract. While this is largely an issue for life insurance contracts with 
significant savings elements, accounting for certain non-life insurance policies could 
also be affected. Under the new regime, features such as experience refunds whereby 
premium is returned to policyholders when claims experience turns out better than  
expected could be treated as deposits, since ultimately they represent a claim on the  
insurer.

 In response to persistent industry concerns, the IASB and FASB are contemplating  
using Other Comprehensive Income (OCI) to reflect some valuation changes in both  
assets and liabilities. Specifically, this would require insurers to exclude temporary  
unrealised gains or losses resulting from changes in discount rates from affecting  
reported earnings. In so doing, many insurers argue that the profit and loss statement 
would better reflect the release from risks undertaken.31 At the same time, there is a  
residual worry that requiring insurers to reflect the impact of discount rate changes on 
insurance liabilities through equity rather than earnings could simply reintroduce  
accounting mismatches if valuation changes for the supporting assets are not accounted 
for in the same way. Thus while there is a broad industry support for the expanded OCI 
treatment, there needs to be consistency in the accounting approach for assets and  
liabilities.

 From a practical perspective, a broader OCI raises the question whether it could also  
be implemented in IFRS 9 for assets and non-insurance liabilities by adding a separate 
instrument classification or through another accounting construct that expands the  
use of OCI. Similarly, it is unclear for which types of assets an additional classification 
(or any other expansion of OCI) could be used. The IASB seems to be aiming for debt  
instruments only, but some insurers have pushed for a wider application that would  
include other assets such as equity securities and derivatives.32 

31 “HUB Summary – paper 1.” HUB Global Insurance Group, March (2011).
32 “Limited improvements to IFRS 9 classification and measurement.” Ernst & Young, March (2012).

Insurers stress the need for symmetric 
treatment of assets and liabilities to avoid 
artificially volatile financial reporting.

Unbundling of savings and risk protection 
is part of IFRS 4, although the details have 
yet to be finalised.

The IASB and FASB are considering an  
expanded OCI treatment for assets and  
liabilities to reduce reported earnings  
volatility…

…although practical issues in applying  
the extended OCI approach are still to be 
determined.

Prospective changes to accounting and the surrounding points of contention
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 Recognising and presenting earnings
 Whether to extend OCI accounting treatments underpins a broader question concern-

ing earnings recognition, or what to recognise as profits in accounting statements and 
when this should happen. The proposals for IFRS 4 preclude insurers from recognising 
profit on day one of an insurance contract.33 Instead, the residual margin set up at  
inception acts as a proxy for deferred profit, and income from the insurance contract  
is to be recognised in a systematic manner over time, in line with the release from risk 
as the insurance service is provided.34

 Focusing on accurately calibrating assets and liabilities rather than matching revenues 
and expenses implies a significant change in insurers’ financial reports. Critics contend 
that although it may be useful to have a more market-consistent view of assets and  
liabilities reflected on the balance sheet, this is completely different from properly reflect-
ing operating performance over a given period. The ultimate outcome of an insurance 
contract can remain uncertain for many years, but if profits are not recognised until all 
uncertainties are resolved, the accounts will give a misleading impression of profitability 
in the interim.

 In addition to recognising the revenues from new business, concerns have been raised 
about how to account for in-force business originating from the time before the new 
standards were issued. The IASB’s 2010 Exposure Draft called for existing contracts  
to be measured at the risk-adjusted present value of the fulfilment cash flows, without  
a residual margin. Furthermore, any deferred acquisition costs would be charged to  
expenses immediately. But because the residual margin (or composite margin in the 
case of the FASB) is a proxy for the expected profit inherent in the contract, if no margin 
is recorded at transition for in-force policies, any embedded value in this book of business 
would disappear.35 There would be an immediate positive effect on equity, but no  
recognition of income, thus reducing subsequent earnings for that block of contracts, 
and potentially even leading to years of reported losses.36 Additionally, comparability 
between new and old insurance contracts would not exist until the old book matures.

 With this in mind, the Boards decided in September 2012 to allow a retrospective  
approach to in-force policies, with a residual margin determined on top of the best  
estimate cash flows at the beginning of the earliest period presented in financial reports. 
This residual margin should be estimated based on objective information that would 
have been available to the insurer at the time the contract was initiated, although in 
practice such calculations could be complicated. Where valuing in-force policies at  
inception would be considered impracticable, simpler alternatives may be allowed but 
more details await the outcome of further consultation with the industry.37 

 Another debate focuses around the best format for the income statement. Traditionally 
premiums and claims lie at the heart of an insurers’ comprehensive income statement. 
From these, key income and expense metrics are derived – for example, loss ratios,  
expense ratios and combined ratios for non-life insurers and new business indicators 
for life insurers. In the new accounting regime, the building-block model will frame the 
presentation of insurers’ income which potentially represents a significant change from 
existing arrangements.

33 A true economic view of the liabilities would recognise day-one profit.
34 As with other accounting approaches, franchise value – the ability of the company to write future profitable 

business – is not included.
35 Moody’s, “Radical Overhaul of Insurance Accounting on the Horizon,” February (2012).
36 This is because under the zero-residual-margin proposal, any future profit recognised for existing business 

would only come from the release of the risk adjustment, higher or lower than expected cash flows, and 
changes in estimates over time.

37 IASB, “Tentative decisions to date: a comparison to the ED proposals,” September (2012).

Under the IFRS 4 proposals, accounting 
income is recognised in line with the  
release from risk, as the insurance service 
is provided.

Focusing on assets and liabilities rather 
than the matching of revenues and  
expenses implies a complete change in 
the way that insurers report their financial 
performance.

Originally, existing contracts were to  
be measured at the risk-adjusted present 
value of fulfilment cash flows, without a 
residual margin…

… but standard setters have since  
tentatively decided to include a  
retrospective residual margin also on  
insurance contracts written before  
the new accounting standards are  
eventually adopted.

Another debate focuses on how best to 
present the income statement, which  
in the IASB’s proposal is driven by the 
building-block model.
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 Source: IASB, “Tentative decisions to date: A comparison to the ED proposals,” September (2012).

 In the IASB’s 2010 Exposure Draft, it was proposed that the statement of comprehensive 
income involve a summarised margin presentation, reflecting changes in the building 
blocks from one period to the next. All changes in the estimated components of insurance 
liabilities would affect reported profits (see the stylised example in the left-hand panel 
of Figure 4).38 However, in response to feedback, the IASB’s views have since evolved 
and they have tentatively decided to include premium information directly in the overall 
income statement. In addition, while changes in some of the building blocks during  
the period – the release of the residual margin and movements in the risk adjustment 
reflecting changes in the perceived uncertainty about the future cash flows – would 
still flow through net income, the effect of movements in the assumed discount rate 
would probably be taken as part of OCI (see right-hand panel of figure 4). However, the 
Boards are yet to determine which premiums should be presented in each accounting 
period. Additionally, margin information will still be required, albeit as part of the  
disclosures in the notes to the accounts.

 Overall, significant obstacles still lie ahead in the pursuit of internationally comparable 
insurance accounting practices, with differing opinions between the individual Boards, 
as well as among industry participants. Recent developments indicate that the IASB 
and FASB may even agree to disagree on specific aspects of insurance accounting. The 
latter announced in June 2012 a converged standard for IFRS 4 is unlikely to emerge 
any time soon, raising the prospect that FASB will look to make future improvements  
to the existing US GAAP rather than issue a new standard.39 Nevertheless, both Boards 
are expected to issue revised proposals for insurance accounting in the first half of 
2013.40 

38 Though not directly part of the building blocks, interest accretes as part of the measurement of the insurance 
contract liabilities. This accretion reflects the time value of money (if material), and is basically an unwinding 
of the discount rate effect. See IFRS, “Insurance Contracts. Basis for Conclusions, Exposure Draft 
ED/2010/8,” July (2010).

39 In the US, the Securities and Exchange Commission (SEC) is the ultimate arbiter of which accounting  
standards listed companies in the country are required to use for financial reporting. The FASB, though in 
charge of developing US GAAP, does not actually decide on what standard companies use. The SEC has 
been deliberating US adoption of IFRS for some years, though such a switch-over decision is unlikely in  
the near term.

40 For the FASB, this will be their first Exposure Draft. For the IASB, it will be a revised Exposure Draft which 
seeks targeted comments on five topics: the treatment of participating contracts; the presentation of  
premiums in the statement of comprehensive income; the treatment of the unearned profit in an insurance 
contract; presenting, in OCI, the effect of changes in the discount rate used to measure the insurance  
contract liability; and the approach to transition. See IASB, “Tentative decisions to date: A comparison to  
the ED proposals,” September (2012).

Figure 4: 
Hypothetical income statements – 
IFRS 4 2010 Exposure Draft and latest 
proposals compared

IASb’s 2010 Exposure Draft proposal IASb’s September 2012 tentative decision

20XX 20XX
Risk adjustment x Premiums x
Residual margin x Changes in insurance liability x
Experience adjustments and 
changes in estimates

x Claims and expenses x

Underwriting result x Underwriting result x
Investment income x Investment income x
Interest on insurance liability x Interest on insurance liability, 

based on locked-in discount rate
x

Net interest and investment x Net interest and investment x
Profit or loss (net income) x Profit or loss (net income) x

OCI:
Effect of discount rate changes in 
insurance contract liability

x

Total comprehensive income x

Some premium information will also be  
included but views differ on how best to 
do so.

By and large, there are still significant 
sticking points along the road to  
internationally comparable insurance  
accounting practices.

Prospective changes to accounting and the surrounding points of contention



21Swiss Re, sigma No 6/2012

 A number of important technical details clearly remain to be resolved. Nonetheless with 
the general direction of travel marked out, it is important for insurers to anticipate the 
potential effects that new accounting standards (both IFRS and changes to US GAAP) 
might have on the sector and beyond. The possible ramifications fall under three key 
headings: financial statement volatility, functioning of the insurance market, and possible 
macroeconomic consequences.

 Financial statement volatility

	 Will financial statement volatility increase?
 Recognising the effects of changes in estimates of both financial variables (such as  

equity prices or interest rates) and other factors (such as acquisition expenses and lapses) 
in each reporting period will likely lead to more variable insurance liability valuations 
than is currently the case. This is not least because insurers in a number of jurisdictions 
presently use fixed actuarial assumptions which are decided upon at the inception of 
the insurance contract. But the overall impact of accounting changes on insurers’ reported 
net worth (and by implication, total income) is not clear a priori. It will depend on how 
far accounting and economic mismatches are addressed in the new accounting regime. 
For example, recognising interest rate and spread duration mismatches between assets 
and liabilities that currently lay hidden might reduce accounting mismatch but simulta-
neously reveal economic mismatch.

 Furthermore, if the finalised standards allow some unrealised gains/losses on assets 
and liabilities to be accounted for as movements in OCI and not to flow into the profit 
and loss account, any increase in balance sheet volatility does not need to be transmitted 
into reported earnings. The profit and loss account could thereby be insulated from  
potentially short-lived swings in financial market variables over which insurers have no 
control.

	 Does reported earnings or equity volatility matter?
 Financial statement volatility per se is not necessarily a bad thing. If period-to-period 

variability in key indicators such as net income and the book value of equity simply re-
flects the underlying nature of an insurer’s business, it should be mirrored in the financial 
accounts. Indeed, a primary objective of financial reporting is to provide users with  
information relating to the uncertainty and timing of future cash flows. Thus, providing 
information about inherent volatility should be seen as an important aspect of complete 
financial reporting.41 However, stakeholders that need to decipher financial accounts 
are not always able to distinguish genuine economic volatility from artificial volatility. 
The latter is especially relevant when insurance liabilities are estimated using consider-
able modelling assumptions that may not fully capture the underlying drivers of future 
cash flows.

 Even for assets and liabilities for which there is an active market and/or a well-defined 
replicating portfolio, traded prices do not always provide a good guide to underlying 
value. For example, if there is a sharp drop in market liquidity, or for that matter if investor 
exuberance fuels asset price bubbles that subsequently burst, marking-to-market  
imparts volatility into accounts even when the fundamental value of the assets has not 
changed. This is problematic for insurers whose long-term perspective should enable 
them to look beyond temporary fluctuations in asset values.

41 See Barth, Mary , “Fair Values and Financial Statement Volatility”, in Borio, Hunter, Kaufman, and Tsatsaronis, 
(eds.) Market discipline across countries and industries, MIT Ch. 25, pages 323–334 (2004).

It is important to anticipate the potential 
effects that new accounting standards 
might have on the sector and beyond.

The new standards are likely to lead to 
more volatile liability valuations, though 
the overall impact on insurers’ net worth  
is not clear a priori.

If some unrealised gains/losses on assets 
and liabilities are kept out of the income 
statement, balance sheet volatility doesn’t 
need to be transmitted into reported  
earnings.

Financial statement volatility per se is not 
necessarily a bad thing, but stakeholders 
are not always able to distinguish true 
economic volatility from artificial volatility.

Even for assets and liabilities for which  
active markets exist, traded prices do not 
always provide a good guide to underlying 
value.

Strategic implications of insurance accounting reform
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 In short, if financial statements overstate economic volatility, they can affect the behav-
iour of insurers and key stakeholders such as investors and policyholders. Firms with 
more volatile earnings or equity may face increased costs of capital as investors command 
an additional return to compensate them for the potential reduced predictability of  
future cash flows. This is especially true if there are relatively many investors who are 
unfamiliar with the actuarial and modelling assumptions employed in preparing insurers’ 
financial accounts.42 The ongoing shift to high-frequency reporting (eg from annual to 
quarterly) could exacerbate these difficulties for insurers.

 A number of researchers have investigated the impact of smoother reported earnings  
in lowering industrial firms’ cost of debt or equity. Overall, the empirical evidence is 
mixed. While some studies document a positive link between the variability of a  
company’s reported earnings and costs of capital, others suggest that companies with  
stable incomes don’t necessarily enjoy any financing cost advantage. Considering this 
issue for the insurance sector, the Box on “Accounting statement volatility and insurers’ 
cost of capital” outlines some statistical analyses of the empirical association between 
insurance companies’ equity returns and financial reporting volatility. The results  
suggest that accounting volatility itself is not generally a significant factor affecting  
insurers’ realised equity returns, a likely important influence on insurers’ (ex-ante) costs  
of capital.

 
 Accounting statement volatility and insurers’ costs of capital

 When evaluating whether to purchase securities issued by a firm, investors consider 
the expected payoffs from that investment based on available information. However, 
such payoff predictions are prone to error. To the extent that volatility in accounting 
statements makes prediction more difficult, and this estimation risk is factored into  
required returns, firms with more volatile results would face higher costs of capital.

 To explore the possible link between volatility in insurers’ reported financial results and 
their costs of capital, the following regression equation43 was estimated based on annual 
data for a small panel of insurers across several countries:

 Rit – Rft = α + β(Rmt – Rft) + γSIZEit + δBMit + θACCVOLit + μit (1)

 Rit is the nominal equity return of insurer i, Rft is the risk-free nominal interest rate, Rmt  
is the nominal return on the overall stock market portfolio, (SIZEit, BMit, ACCVOLit) – 
representing firm size, book-to-market values of equity, and historical accounting  
volatility44 – are additional factors that could affect an insurer’s required returns, and  
μit reflects random, unexplained influences.

 Equation (1) says that, provided historical returns are a good guide to the future, the 
expected cost of equity capital for a firm i [ie Ε(Rit)] will be captured by the return  
on the risk-free rate plus a premium to compensate for systematic (ie non-diversifiable) 
risk. The premium is a function of the expected excess return on the market portfolio 
over the risk-free asset plus additional factors linked to observable characteristics of 
the firm.

42 Greater earnings volatility leads to a bigger informational advantage for informed investors over uninformed 
investors. If sufficiently many current shareholders are uninformed, they might prefer the managers to 
smooth reported earnings as much as possible.

43 This equation can be thought as a modified Capital Asset Pricing Model (CAPM) where additional risk  
factors over and above the market risk premium (Rmt	–	Rft) are included as possible influences on a firm’s  
expected equity return. Since most insurers produce interim financial results, the accounting variables  
are assumed to affect equity returns contemporaneously even though strictly speaking full-year accounts 
would not be available until the following year.

44 Separate regressions are carried out for two types of accounting volatility – income statement and balance 
sheet volatility. Both are measured as the coefficient of variation (standard deviation divided by the mean) of 
changes in reported entries in insurers’ annual accounts calculated over a rolling five-year window. Sample 
size varies across countries and time, but for some insurers the period of study spans 1985 to 2011.

Firms with more volatile earnings or equity 
may face increased costs of capital …

… though empirical evidence on this effect 
is mixed.

If volatility in accounting statements   
makes predictions about financial results 
more difficult, firms with more volatile  
reporting may face higher costs of capital.

The expected cost of equity capital for  
a firm will be captured by the return on  
the risk-free rate plus a premium to  
compensate for market risk and firm- 
specific features.

Strategic implications of insurance accounting reform
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 Table 2 summarises the key regression results for different types of insurers for a selection 
of different countries. It presents the economic and statistical significance of the impact 
of accounting volatility on insurers’ realised total equity returns for two different indicators 
of accounting volatility, one based on an income statement metric (labelled θ1) and the 
other a balance sheet metric (labelled θ2). Some key highlights include that:
 ̤ operating income volatility is generally not an important influence on insurers’ equity 

returns. This is true across countries and types of insurer.
 ̤ there is some evidence that equity, or book value, volatility is statistically significant, 

mainly for non-life insurers. But the overall effect on equity returns is small – at most 
around 70 basis points for every percentage point increase in volatility of book equity. 
This compares with average annual equity returns for insurers of around 1 500  
basis points over the entire sample period.

 ̤ the results are qualitatively similar when alternative indicators of accounting volatility 
(both income statement and balance sheet) are used and different samples applied.

(Basis points) Composite insurers Life insurers Non-life insurers
Country  
(average no. of  
insurers included)

Operating 
income  
volatility 
(θ1)

Equity  
volatility

(θ2)

Operating 
income  
volatility
(θ1)

Equity  
volatility

(θ2)

Operating 
income  
volatility
(θ1)

Equity  
volatility

(θ2)
Germany (4)  –2.7*** 13.9***
Italy (4) –3.5***    0.6
South Korea (8)    7.8 71.6***
Netherlands (5)  14.7***  28.2***

United Kingdom (8)  –1.0    6.0 –2.5    1.2
United States (30)  –0.3    1.5 –0.3    8.2 –4.6 41.2***

 (a)  Based on fixed-effects panel regression models for a selection of insurers from each country where the  
effects of extreme outliers have been removed and robust standard error estimation applied. The entries  
in the table reflect the impact of a one unit increase in the volatility of the respective accounting measure  
on an insurer’s realised equity return in a particular country (in basis points). The effects are evaluated  
at the sample mean levels for each volatility measure. Blank entries imply insufficient observations to  
produce reliable regression coefficient estimates.

 *,**,***   implies that volatility is significant at the 90%, 95% and 99% confidence levels respectively.

 Source: Datastream, Worldscope and Swiss Re Economic Research & Consulting

 At face value, the regression results suggest that accounting volatility is not a key driver 
of insurers’ realised equity returns. Therefore, concerns that more volatile reporting  
associated with the new accounting standards might significantly increase firms’  
financing costs could be exaggerated. However, as with any statistical analysis, it is  
important to bear in mind some caveats. In particular, the effect of reporting volatility 
on equity returns might be offset by other factors that are not included in equation (1). 
For example, to the extent that firms tend to provide enhanced disclosure when their  
financial results are volatile, which helps investors assess future returns, the regression 
coefficients on accounting volatility will be biased because such effects are not captured 
in the model.45 Further, random, firm-specific news in any period may be so large as  
to swamp any pattern that exists between realised returns and accounting volatility 
measures, yielding tests with low statistical power.

45 Formally, this is an example of the correlated omitted variable problem. The fixed effects should account for 
some of this heterogeneity across firms but they will not pick up omitted time-varying influences that are 
correlated with the included regressors.

Empirical evidence shows that accounting 
volatility is not generally an important  
influence on insurers’ realised equity  
returns.

Table 2: 
Key effects of accounting volatility on 
insurers’ historical equity returns for 
selected countries(a)

At face value, the regression results  
suggest that fears that more volatile  
reporting might drive up insurers’ cost  
of capital could be exaggerated.
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 However, perceptions about the benefits of stable net income and book equity may be 
as important as reality, since they may affect the behaviour of insurance management 
as well as investors. According to survey evidence, when asked about their preferences 
for the profile of company earnings, an overwhelming majority (96.9%) of CFOs in the 
US responded that they preferred smooth earnings paths as it reduces the perceived 
riskiness of the firm/uncertainty about the firm’s value.46 Similarly, for the insurance 
sector, a key theme that emerged from the feedback on the IASB’s Exposure Draft  
for IFRS 4 Phase 2 was that insurers dislike volatility in their financial statements. They 
worry that unwarranted volatility reduces the attractiveness of insurance entities to  
investors and puts insurers at a competitive disadvantage in attracting capital, particularly 
against industrial or retail companies where developments in revenue and the cost of 
goods sold are much easier to understand.

 How can firms mitigate potential financial statement volatility?
 There are a number of ways insurers can seek to offset the prospective impact of  

accounting changes on their financial statements, including:
 ̤ better	matching	assets	and	liabilities. Firms can seek to change the size and alloca-

tion of their asset portfolios to match their liability cash flows better. This would  
reinforce a prevailing trend among insurers towards liability-driven investment (LDI), 
whereby asset selection is framed around funding projected (though uncertain)  
liabilities. However, there are practical limits to such an approach. First, the set of 
suitable financial instruments is limited so all insurance liabilities cannot be perfectly 
matched. Second, while helping to mitigate liability volatility, over-reliance on  
matching assets increases the possibility that the returns are insufficient to cover  
other risks such as longevity, rising operating expenses, and the general imperfection 
in valuing liabilities over time. Therefore, insurers often need to take some mismatch 
risk by investing in higher yielding assets such as equities and alternative investments.47 

 ̤ hedging	volatility. Insurers can look to transfer volatility risk in their accounts to  
investors. Entering into derivative contracts to hedge exposure to asset price volatility 
can help to insulate insurers’ results from sharp swings in financial markets, although 
the benefits of such a strategy would need to outweigh the costs of initiating and 
maintaining the hedges. Moreover, hedging itself can create accounting mismatches, 
depending on how it is set up, which could add to volatility in financial reports.

 ̤ using	reinsurance. Insurers can potentially use reinsurance to mitigate volatility in 
their financial results. By transferring underwriting and/or investment risks to reinsurers, 
primary insurers may be able to achieve more stable earnings and capital positions 
(see Box: “Reinsurance solutions to overcome financial reporting volatility”, which 
outlines some ways that reinsurance could help to alleviate volatility in insurers’  
results). 

 ̤ streamlining	product	offerings.	Some product lines that are profitable under current 
accounting rules may be less profitable when assessed on a more economic basis. 
Over time, insurers have the opportunity to redesign their policies, including poten-
tially scrapping some. They could for example reduce guarantees and options  
embedded in insurance contracts. Similarly, the duration of some contracts could be 
shortened in order to reduce the reporting volatility associated with the impact of 
changes in interest rates.

 ̤ securitising	insurance	risks. While the market for insurance-linked securities is still 
relatively small in some regions, increased volatility in insurers’ accounts might  
encourage them to widen the set of risks they seek to transfer to capital markets.

46 Graham John, Harvey, Campbell, and Rajgopal Shiva. “The Economic Implications of Corporate Financial  
Reporting.” Journal of Accounting and Economics 40, (2005).

47 LeBlanc, Kevin and Bourdos, Dino. “Liability driven investing and the reassessing of risk”, TD Asset Management 
Inc. Focus publication, August (2009). http://www.tdaminstitutional.com/tmi/pdfs/FocusAug2009.pdf

Nevertheless, perceptions about the  
benefits of stable income and book equity 
performance may be as important as  
reality.

 

Insurers can seek to offset the impact of 
accounting rule changes by hedging, 
changing their products, or shedding risk.

Strategic implications of insurance accounting reform
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 Reinsurance solutions to overcome financial reporting volatility

 Under the proposed new accounting standards, insurers’ reported results – in their  
income statements and/or balance sheets – could become more volatile. Could  
reinsurance provide some relief? Two broad protection possibilities stand out.

	 Underwriting	risk	transfer
 Using the typical suite of non-life reinsurance products, whether on a prospective or 

retrospective basis, cedants may be able to hedge long duration risks, such as workers’ 
compensation or commercial liability. If reinsurance is triggered, the reinsurer is liable  
for the covered claims. The loss participation of the reinsurer is reflected in the primary 
insurer’s balance sheet as an asset (reinsurance receivable), providing a perfect offset 
to the associated liabilities and therefore reducing the need for finding matching financial 
assets of long-duration.

 Similarly, life insurers may be able to hedge mortality and longevity through reinsurance, 
especially smaller companies with less in-house capacity for hedging these risks.

 Customised reinsurance contracts offering a more efficient way to reinsure underwriting 
risk could also help to alleviate the impact of accounting regime shifts. Recent market 
developments indicate a trend towards more bespoke reinsurance solutions aimed at 
mitigating earnings volatility. By taking a more holistic approach to reinsurance, primary 
insurers can optimise their hedging programmes (for example across line of business, 
regional entities, or market segments) to achieve a more efficient capital allocation 
against insurer-retained risks. Features such as multi-year, multi-line reinsurance  
protection could moderate variability in primary insurers’ underwriting performance 
and therefore aid them in economising on capital.

	 Targeted	asset-liability	mismatch	cover
 Tailor-made reinsurance structures that blend asset risks and underwriting risks into 

one cover have been around for some time.48 In principle, such integrated risk manage-
ment solutions could be employed to provide at least partial relief for primary insurers 
against the impact of accounting regime change on capital and/or earnings volatility. 

 Recently, some reinsurers have also developed reinsurance products to address asset-
liability valuation mismatch directly. The idea is that when underwriting conditions  
are favourable, the reinsurance cover provides no protection. The better-than-expected  
underwriting results provide a buffer against undesired asset-liability mismatch. In  
contrast, if underwriting performance is much worse than anticipated (in terms of the 
frequency or severity of claims) the reinsurer shares some of the costs. If appropriately 
structured, such reinsurance contracts can protect insurers from the impact of asset- 
liability mismatch on their earnings or capital.

 
 For both underwriting risk transfer and more targeted asset-liability mismatch cover,  

reinsurers need to ensure that there are significant diversification gains with their own 
existing portfolios in order to be comfortable with the risks transferred. Moreover, they 
must be vigilant not to overstep the boundaries of insurability, not least because the 
types of risk that might offer the most accounting volatility relief for primary insurers 
may not be the ones that reinsurers have the most capacity to absorb. In principle, 
though, reinsurance may offer a useful vehicle for cedants to mitigate earnings and  
equity volatility. The propensity for large reinsurance claims in some years may mean 
that risk capital providers may be more willing to look through period-to-period volatility 
in reinsurers’ compared with insurers’ reported results. As a result, reinsurers may 
sometimes be better placed than primary insurers to manage the corresponding  
accounting volatility.

48 See “Added Value of Prospective Structured Reinsurance Solutions,” Swiss Re, Technical Publishing, Zurich 
(2007). See also Swiss Re sigma 5/1997, Swiss Re sigma 2/1999, and Swiss Re sigma 1/2003.

Reinsurance can potentially offer  
relief from financial reporting volatility to 
primary insurers.

Transferring long duration risks can  
offer a natural hedge against the impact  
of interest rate changes.

Taking a more holistic approach to  
reinsurance could also help.

Structured reinsurance that blends  
asset and underwriting risk protection 
may provide some relief against capital/
earnings volatility.

Customised reinsurance solutions to  
address asset-liability mismatch might be 
developed.

In all cases, reinsurers need to ensure  
they do not overstep the boundaries of  
insurability.
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 Insurance market functioning

	 Will new accounting standards help insurers to manage their businesses better?
 Many insurers have long managed their businesses on an economic basis even if their 

formal accounts reflected the various official reporting frameworks. But some insurers, 
even internally, still rely more on traditional accounting approaches. Such insurers, 
while not driving completely blind, run the danger of steering too much with the aid of 
the rear view mirror. The shift towards a more economic valuation of assets and liabilities 
in the proposed accounting standards should in principle help to illuminate the full costs 
of producing insurance, including the cost of capital required to support the business.  
In so doing, it will reveal the appropriate actions insurers can take to manage their risks. 
For example, companies that are particularly exposed to interest rate changes can take 
pre-emptive action to hedge interest rate volatility through for example interest rate  
derivatives or forward cash flow hedging.

 Yet economic valuations are only as good as the assumptions and models employed  
to produce them, and the interpretations attached to them. Financial accounts tend to 
concentrate on reporting point estimates of measured values when the reality is that 
nearly all measurements are inexact. The assessment of asset/liability values and  
revenue requires an estimation of future probabilities, not certainties. Furthermore,  
the valuation models themselves are subject to estimation error.

 To the extent that the new accounting standards encourage insurers to be explicit and 
more open about the source of uncertainty surrounding their estimated assets and  
liabilities, they may help insurance executives to improve their decision making both 
about the extent and the price of insurance cover provided.49 But formal accounting  
indicators alone are unlikely to be enough; insurers often need to use many financial 
metrics in order to steer their businesses. For example, information on the timing of cash 
flows is often lacking in some regulatory and various accounting reports even though 
this is an important piece of information for insurance management. A recent survey  
of European and US insurers indicated that a significant majority of respondents were 
either neutral or sceptical that the benefits of adopting new IFRS standards would  
outweigh the costs – see Figure 5.

 

0 20% 40% 60% 80% 100%

DisagreeNeutralAgree

The new infomation that my company will present 
to its shareholders under the new set of IFRS(a) 

will give them a better picture of our business that 
will be relevant for investorsʼ economic decisions.

For my business, the benefits of adopting the 
new “Financial Instruments” accounting standard 
outweigh the expected implementation costs.

For my business, the benefits of adopting the 
new “Insurance Contracts” accounting standard 
outweigh the expected implementation costs.

21% 58% 21%

31% 32% 37%

16% 63% 21%

(a) Refers in particular to IFRS 4 and IFRS 9

 

 Source: Deloitte/Economist Intelligence Unit, “Winning the Waiting Game,” July (2012).

49 Some commentators in the accounting profession go further and recommend that firms adopt so-called 
“confidence accounting” in which distributions rather than discrete values for major entries in the profit  
and loss, balance sheet and cash flow statements are reported. See for example, “Confidence accounting:  
A Proposal” published by ACCA, CISI and Long Finance, London, July (2012).

Managing an insurance business on a 
more traditional accounting basis means 
possibly missing salient information.

Yet economic valuations are only as good 
as the assumptions and models employed 
to produce them.

New accounting standards may promote 
more effective decision-making, although 
arguably, insurers need multiple financial 
metrics to run their businesses.

Figure 5: 
Insurers’ views about the effectiveness 
of the new accounting standards
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 Increased transparency in the pricing of risk that may accompany new accounting 
standards could intensify competition in insurance markets, adding to near-term com-
mercial pressures from the current weak macroeconomic environment and associated 
low interest rates. However, increasing the available information about insurance  
liabilities might encourage more interest from third-party investors in insurance linked 
securitisation. Broadening and deepening this important market place will increase  
the risk-absorbing capacity in the insurance sector and thereby contribute to more  
effective risk intermediation.

	 Will some insurers be caught out in the transition?
 With any change in accounting or regulatory regimes, there will be winners and losers. 

Some life insurers, for example in the US, Japan, and parts of Europe, are concerned 
that their solvency could be impaired if they are forced to report their financial position 
on a basis closer to full economic or market value. This concern reflects the legacy  
business that some insurers carry in their insurance portfolios, such as variable annuities 
with minimum guarantees or other policyholder options, which if reported on an  
economic basis would likely show a loss in the current low-interest rate environment 
and/or require additional capital to support the obligations.

 This problem, however, is likely to be temporary. Over time, the performance of any  
legacy business should correct itself as the insurance contracts mature, and insurers  
re-price the associated risks and adjust their product suite. Nevertheless, the process 
could take a while. In the meantime, the adoption of new accounting standards will add 
to insurers’ operational costs, as demands on data handling, risk modelling, policy  
administration, and financial reporting systems increase. These costs of implementing 
accounting reforms may disproportionately impact smaller insurance firms with fewer 
resources to design and maintain new systems. New accounting rules could also  
influence consolidation in the sector as some firms divest non-performing or capital- 
intensive business and others seek economies of scale.

 In Europe, given that a number of the same transitional issues have surfaced in the  
context of the Solvency II regulatory framework for insurance, many European insurers 
should be well placed to adopt the new accounting standards which are likely to be 
based on similar underlying principles. The adjustment could be more difficult in other 
jurisdictions where regulatory regimes are less overtly founded on risk-based capital 
solvency standards.

	 Will reporting changes benefit external users of insurance accounts?
 Accounting data play a central role in allowing investors to monitor managerial perfor-

mance and assess the risk-reward profile of their investment. If changes to accounting 
standards lead to greater clarity about the underlying strength or performance of a firm, 
its overall market valuation could be boosted, capital costs could fall and overall alloca-
tive efficiency in the economy might be improved. This may be true even if reported  
financial results became more variable from one period to another.

 Nonetheless, some in the investor community appear unconvinced that the new  
accounting standards themselves will enhance investors’ understanding of insurers’  
underlying business models. Doubts persist as to whether the new standards will pin-
point where income/profit is being generated in the business, what risks are being  
taken that could jeopardise shareholder funds, and what the company’s future distribut-
able earnings ultimately are. Anecdotally, the insurance sector is often perceived as a 
poor performer when it comes to meaningful financial reporting. Indeed, some com-
mentators suggest that insurance companies’ relatively low equity market valuations in 
recent years are a sign of investors’ doubts that insurers’ financial accounts accurately 
reflect the true underlying economics of their business.50 

50 See for example, “The insurance industry in 2012”, Price-Waterhouse-Cooper Top Issues  
annual report (2012).

Increasing the information available about 
insurance liabilities may encourage further 
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Any accounting or regulatory regime 
change creates winners and losers …

… though the effects of the shift to new  
accounting standards are likely to be  
temporary.

The adjustment may be smoother in  
Europe, where similar issues have  
surfaced in the context of the new  
prudential regulatory framework.

Greater clarity about the underlying 
strength or performance of a firm through 
accounting data could help to lower  
capital costs.

However, it is not clear whether the new 
accounting standards alone will enhance 
transparency.
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 Investors often use company financial accounts to compare firms across sectors.  
However, the move to financial reporting shaped around the peculiar valuation and meas-
urement challenges in insurance could make such comparison tricky. Recent survey  
evidence indicates that less than a fifth (16 per cent) of over 200 sampled insurance 
executives believed that the new accounting standards will provide information of  
benefit to shareholders (see Figure 5). Ironically, proponents of US GAAP argue that 
standardised accounting treatment across firms in different sectors is a strength, even if 
comparability across insurers from different countries is correspondingly more difficult.

 The more recent tentative decisions by the IASB about the presentation of the state-
ment of comprehensive income help alleviate some of these concerns, as premiums, 
claims, and expenses are likely to continue to be reported. Nevertheless, the discretion 
insurers will have in calibrating asset and liability valuations under the proposed  
reforms does mean that comparisons within the insurance sector may not always be 
straightforward. Critics of the proposed accounting standards point to the potential  
differences between the various financial metrics that insurers, especially in Europe, 
may end up reporting. Under Solvency II, for example, there will be strict rules on what 
discount rate to use, whereas under IFRS insurers will simply have to disclose how the 
discount rate is calculated.

 The standard setters hope to offset some of the worries about cross-firm, cross-sector 
comparability through enhanced disclosure, which could enable users of financial 
statements to construct their own valuation metrics, and over time lead to more stand-
ardisation due to the development of best practice. But simply increasing the amount  
of supporting information reported is unlikely to improve matters overnight. Indeed, 
transparency rather than disclosure per se is the key.51 The challenge for insurers is to 
find ways to better communicate their underlying economic value to investors. Arguably 
the debate about accounting reform as well as industry-led initiatives such as MCEV 
may have focused on the precise details of valuation and income recognition, without 
making insurance accounts any less complex and more understandable.

 In the absence of a fully developed and comprehensive market for insurance liabilities, 
it is not possible to base valuations on totally objective criteria. Instead, there is likely to 
be a trade-off between theoretically coherent, market-consistent valuations and simple 
reporting metrics which, though partial, may still be informative (see Figure 6). Different 
users of financial reports will have different preferences over what information insurers 
should present and how. For example, equity investors often want to know whether a 
business is generating sustainable income and how those earnings will be distributed 
to shareholders. In contrast, debt and policyholders (whose priorities may to some  
extent coincide with those of rating agencies and regulators) will be more interested in 
establishing the underlying value of the net assets of the firm to ensure that insurers  
can make good on their obligations in the long term.

51 Freixas, Xavier and Laux, Christian. “Disclosure, transparency, and market discipline” in Dewatripont,  
M and X Freixas (eds.), The crisis aftermath: New regulatory paradigms, London: Centre for Economic Policy 
Research, pages 69–104, March (2012).
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YesNo

Theoretically 
correct

Understandable, simple, transparent 

Yes
IASB 2007 proposal 

MCEV 

IASB 2010 
Exposure Draft 

Current IFRS/US GAAP 
reporting for life 
insurance  

Current IFRS/US GAAP 
reporting for non-life 
insurance   

Free cash-flow

 

  (a)   Entries in the chart refer to particular reporting metrics used by/or proposed for use by insurers.  
For example, IASB 2007 proposal refers to the Discussion Paper issued that year.

 Source: BofA Merrill Lynch Global Research

 The way that an income statement and a balance sheet are structured and presented 
can significantly enhance the usefulness of the financial statement data. In recent years, 
there has been a clamour for more cash-based indicators that inform investors about 
the funds generated by the insurer in excess of the costs of running the business, where 
the latter includes the opportunity costs of the risk capital deployed. Analysts and  
investors, for example, would attach priority to such granular information that helps  
understand the underlying strength of the businesses, judge the acumen of the executives 
running the company, and evaluate the prospective success of the strategies adopted.

 The insurance industry must do a better job in turning the complexity of its business 
into digestible financial information. Arguably, the MCEV/IFRS/Solvency II measures 
provide all the raw material that analysts and investors seek. But rather than telescope 
future income streams into a single number, investors are also interested in the profile 
over time of such flows and an assessment of the associated uncertainty. It would be 
useful to have some key metrics to blend the current (profit and loss) view with the long 
term (embedded value) view of earnings, and link it to distributable income/surplus 
capital. Ideally, the measures would be able to exclude temporary changes in income 
associated with windfall gains/losses, and yet indicate the insurer’s ability to generate 
future cash flows on a recurring basis.

 

Figure 6: 
trade-off between theoretical  
coherence and simplicity in reporting 
metrics(a)

A recent push by investors has indicated a 
preference for more cash-based indicators.

The industry must do a better job in  
turning the complexity of its business into 
digestible financial information.
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 Potential macroeconomic consequences 

	 Could accounting reform contribute to reduced risk-sharing?
 If the switch to the new standards adversely affects insurance company valuations  

and their ability to secure capital, it could also have implications that extend beyond the  
insurance sector. A potential negative side-effect of more market-based accounting 
would be that insurers reduce their risk-taking. By changing the characteristics of the  
insurance products they offer, insurance companies could simply look to shift the risk 
exposure back on households and firms – for example, through lower guaranteed  
investment returns, additional market value adjustments to returns on savings products, 
or through writing less casualty business. This would be one way to address and better 
manage the economic mismatches that exist between their insurance and investment 
portfolios. But from a societal perspective, this may mean risk is transferred to those 
less comfortable and/or less able to absorb it.52 In turn, this shift may lead to greater 
sensitivity of aggregate spending in the economy to changes in asset prices and  
interest rates, and could deter prospective investment either because insurance is not 
available or it has become prohibitively expensive.

 In terms of asset allocation, a further retreat from risk could mean greater structural  
demand for fixed income securities to match the maturity and cash flows of insurance 
liabilities.53 Since such a situation tends to favour government bonds, their yields may 
well fall, although differentiation across issuer countries would likely continue. In addi-
tion, any shift in preferred assets raises issues over companies’ medium-term funding 
prospects. Corporate bonds may become less attractive for insurers under future  
accounting standards if variation in credit spreads leads to unavoidable asset-liability 
valuation mismatches. Likewise, industrial firms may struggle to find investors for their 
equity if insurers seek more complete matches for the liabilities. Given the loss-absorb-
ing and risk-sharing characteristics of equity, this situation could constrain countries’ 
productive capacity and economic growth.

 However, any such changes in the role of the insurance sector in intermediating risk are 
likely to arise only slowly. Furthermore, there may be countervailing influences which 
temper the overall impact. With low interest yields currently acting as a drag on insurerś  
profitability, the pressure to meet existing guarantees should support demand for risky 
assets. Similarly, increased competition for savings from banks and pension funds 
means that insurers are unlikely to abandon guaranteed return products altogether. 
From a policyholder perspective too, even if individuals face increased risk exposure  
on their savings, they may be able to enjoy higher average returns if insurers who  
invest on their behalf are less constrained to match liability cash flows in their choice  
of investments.

	 Will the new standards encourage more procyclicality?
 A related issue is whether changes in the accounting regime could weaken insurers’ 

ability to sustain a long-term investor perspective and see beyond temporary periods of 
asset market volatility. Although insurance companies typically invest for the long haul, 
if they have greater incentives to meet liability matching constraints (for example,  
because their own prospective investors demand additional risk compensation for  
volatile earnings/equity), their risk appetite may wane when the prices of long-term 
risky investments fall sharply.

52 Insurance companies have the ability to diversify idiosyncratic risk more easily than individuals given the 
ability to pool many insurance contracts. Similarly, individuals may improve their welfare by transferring  
systematic risk to less risk-averse insurance companies, albeit incurring a premium.

53 The implications of prospective regulatory and accounting reforms on the behaviour of insurance companies 
and pension companies is discussed in more detail in, “Fixed income strategies of insurance companies and 
pension funds”, a report by a working group of the Committee on Global Financial System, July (2011).

More market-based accounting could lead 
to reduced risk-taking by insurers ...

… including a greater demand for fixed  
income securities at the expense of other 
asset classes.

Any potential changes are likely to  
arise only slowly and there may be  
countervailing influences.

Financial statement volatility concerns 
could encourage short-termism in  
insurers’ investment decisions.
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 Such short-termism could exacerbate procyclicality within the financial system – a  
tendency for developments in the financial sector to amplify swings in the real economy. 
In times of market stress, accounting considerations could potentially accentuate  
disposals of risky assets such as equity and corporate bonds, further depressing their 
prices. The corresponding sudden shift into less risky assets such as high-quality  
government bonds could simply serve to push their yields lower and increase the  
present value of future liabilities.

 The shift towards more risk-based prudential regulation embodied in Solvency II could 
also generate similar effects. In fact, observers fear that the impact from regulatory 
changes on the insurance industry and beyond could be more pronounced because of 
the direct and immediate solvency requirements it imposes. As a result, under Solvency II, 
proposed calibration methods have been changed to avoid misleading falls in solvency 
ratios and unnecessary procyclicality.54 

 The accounting standard setters are also well aware of the potential for such adverse 
feedback between financial market prices and insurance sector financial statements. 
Indeed, it is precisely this awareness that prompted some of the changes to the initial 
proposals for IFRS 4 and the re-opening of debates on IFRS 9. In light of the experience 
during the height of the recent financial crisis in 2008 to 2009, a number of circuit 
breakers exist in the accounting to reduce procyclical volatility. For example, insurers 
might base estimates of risk margins on insurance liabilities on through-the-cycle  
estimates of the cost of capital rate, thus avoiding the need to automatically reflect 
swings in investors’ risk appetite in liability valuations. Also, to the extent that insurers 
are particularly focused on avoiding volatility in their reported profits, passing the impact 
of market interest rate changes on insurance liabilities through OCI might reduce the  
incentives to reduce risk-taking in times of stress even though balance sheet volatility 
would still increase.

 While different measurement assumptions may make the comparisons of insurance  
accounts across entities more difficult, the potential variety in approaches could ironi-
cally prove helpful. The more insurers are obliged to adopt the same models, the greater 
might be the correlation among their financial results, thereby potentially adding to  
systematic risk.

 In the end, the ramifications of the proposed accounting reforms will heavily depend on 
the precise wording of the new standards. Even then the impact may only show up 
slowly because wider implications often depend indirectly on how insurers interpret the 
rules and how financial markets or stakeholders react to accounting information. While 
changes to financial reporting may produce more decision-useful information and  
hold insurance management more accountable to their stakeholders, the potential for  
unintended consequences remains. Insurers and policymakers alike must stay alert  
to such possible effects. 

54 Solvency II includes the potential to include countercyclical and matching premiums to discount future  
insurance liabilities.

This could exacerbate  
procyclicality in the economy.

Such concerns have also been highlighted 
in connection with Solvency II.

The accounting standard setters are alert 
to these possible effects and have sought 
to amend their proposals to mitigate any 
procyclical impact.

Different valuation methods across  
insurers might also help dampen feedback 
effects on asset markets.

The full implications of accounting reform 
will depend on the details of the new 
standards and may ultimately show up 
only slowly.
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 Reforming accounting practices in insurance is a very difficult task. The standard setters 
have had to contend with many disparate, sometimes opposing, opinions regarding  
the best path to take. Significant progress has been made, with broad acceptance in 
the insurance industry about the overall thrust of the proposed reforms. Nonetheless,  
differences in opinion remain about key details of the proposals, even among the main 
standard-setting bodies, the FASB and IASB.

 Under the latest proposals, insurers will be less able to ignore the true economic costs 
associated with mismatched assets and liabilities and unhedged interest rate, equity,  
or policyholder risk exposure. Insurance companies that have significant legacy life  
insurance business with embedded guarantees could be particularly hard hit, although 
this on its own is not reason enough to derail the accounting reforms. Equally, the  
prospective changes in accounting will help no one if they simply introduce artificial 
volatility into insurers’ financial results, either by creating new accounting mismatches 
or reflecting temporary swings in asset prices that are irrelevant to insurers’ long-term 
business model. Such features could unintentionally encourage insurers to retreat further 
from risk-taking and could accentuate procyclicality in the economy.

 The implications of the accounting reforms will ultimately depend on the final details of 
the new standards, and the IASB/FASB have shown a willingness to adjust their  
proposals in order to find workable solutions. Shifting towards a more economic valuation 
of assets and liabilities should in principle help to illuminate the full costs of producing 
insurance, including the cost of capital required to support the business. This may mean 
greater economic volatility in insurers’ financial accounts, but that is a good thing  
if it leads to better risk management and to internal and external stakeholders more  
thoroughly understanding the business.

 Even if full agreement cannot be reached for a single, common international standard, 
consolidation of the existing multiple accounting treatments would be helpful. The  
insurance sector must nonetheless press on with upgrading its accounting practices  
so that over time further convergence will be achieved as best practice is established.

 Insurance, more than most other industries, has always taken the role of uncertainty in 
asset and liability valuation and financial reporting measurement seriously. But arguably 
the sector has not been effective in communicating that to its various stakeholders,  
typically capturing the effects of uncertainty either in various prudent technical provisions 
or in terms of complex embedded value metrics based on sometimes opaque assump-
tions about market-consistency. Insurers therefore need to be mindful, if they want to 
produce financial information that is more helpful to users of their accounting reports, 
that a particular basis of measurement or indicator is not appropriate for all purposes.

 Shifting to a new accounting regime may just give the insurance sector the push it 
needs to begin to provide more transparent and informative financial accounting state-
ments. If the new standards lead to greater clarity about the underlying strength of an 
insurance company, they can enhance investor trust in insurers’ financial reporting. Yet 
more volatile financial results could easily be misinterpreted without greater transpar-
ency about the sources of income and balance sheet volatility, the effects of which 
could be felt not only in the insurance industry but also the wider economy. Additional 
measures to indicate an insurer’s ability to generate future distributable earnings on  
a recurring basis will almost certainly need to be developed before everyone can gain  
a clear perspective on the complex world of insurance accounting.

Progress has been made in insurance  
accounting reform, but significant  
differences in opinions persist.

The proposed accounting improvements 
are likely to reflect the economics of  
insurance better.

The implications of the reforms will  
depend on the final details of the new 
standards …

… but a consolidation of the multitude of 
insurance accounting frameworks will  
be helpful, even if a single global standard 
is far off.

Insurers still need to get smarter in  
producing financial information that is 
helpful to users of their accounts.

The new accounting standards could  
help insurers provide more meaningful  
accounts. But additional performance  
indicators will almost certainly be  
required.

Conclusion
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